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CEL-SCI Corporation

CEL-SCI Corporation (CEL-SCI) is a clinical-siage biotechnology company focused on finding the best way 1o
activate the immune system to fight cancer and infections discases. s lead investigational therapy Multikine®
i{Leukocyie Interleukin, Injection) is currently in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for patienis who are newly diagnosed
with advanced primary squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck for which CEL-SCI has received Orphan Drug
Status from the US. Food and Drug Admimstration, or FDA. The study was fully enrolled with 928 patients in
Sepember 2016, The study’s primary end-point is an increase in overall survival of patients between the two main
comparator groups in fivor of the group receiving the Multikine treatment regimen,  To prove an averall survival
benefit, the study required CEL-5CI to wait until 298 cvents had occurred among the two main comparalor groups.
This study milestone occurred in bate April 2020, The study 15 currently in the statistical analyvsis phase. If the primary
end-point of this global siudy is achieved and/or the study shows clinical benefit for the patients, CEL-SCT expecis 1o
use the results o support a Biologics License Application, or BLA, to the FDA for Multiking for neoadjuvant therapy
in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, or SCCHN (hercafier also referred to as advanced
primary head and neck cancer). This disease represents a clear unmet medical need with no new FDA approved drug

in approxinately 60 years.

CEL-SCI's investigational immunotherapy Multikine is being used in a different way than cancer immunotherapy is
usually used. It is given belore any other therapy has been administered because that 15 when the immune sysiem is
thought 1o be strongest (i.¢., as a ncoadjuvant). It is also administered locally around the wmors and near the draining
Iymph node. In the Phase 3 clinical trial, Multiking was given locally for three weeks, five days per week as a first
line treatment before surgery, radiation or radiochemotherapy. The goal is to help the intact immune system “sec™ the
cancer and kil the micro metastases that usually cause recurnence of the cancer. In shon, CEL-SCI believes that local
administration and administration of Multikine before weakening of the immune system by surgery, radiation and
chemotherapy will result in improved outcomes and better overall survival rates for paticnts suffering from head and
neck cancer,

CEL-SCI is investigating a peptide-based immunotherapy (CEL-30000) as a vaccing for rheumatoid anhritis using its
LEAPS wechnology platform. CEL-SCI was awarded a Phase 2 Small Business Innovation Rescarch (SBIR) grant in
the amount of $1.5 million from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) in September 2007, This grant will provide
funding to allow CEL-5CI to advance its first LEAPS product candidate, CEL-4000, towards an Investigational New
Drug (IND) application. CEL-SCI is in the process of completing pre-IND sudies for CEL-4000 and hopes 1o stan
human studics with CEL-4000 in 2021,

CEL-5CI is also investigating LEAPS COVID-19 conjugates as a potential treatment of COVID-19 in hospitalized
and at-high-risk patients. Initial animal experiments showed that LEAPS COVID-19 conjugates induced faster and
much higher than expected antibody responses against a non-mutating region of the virus that causes COVID-19 after
only one injection,

On December 1, 2020, CEL-5CI announced that LEAPS COV-19 peptides, delivered as a therapeutic treatment
following SARS-CoV-2 virus challenge, achicved a 4086 survival rate in ransgenic mouse models as compared 10 054
survival in the two control groups in studics conducted @ the University of Georgia Center for Vaccines and
Immunology. The animals were therapeutically treated with CEL-SCI's LEAPS COV-19 peptides one day after
infection with a lethal dose of SARS-CoV-2. O the LEAPS treated mice, forty percent (40%40) were alive, recovening
and regained lost weight. antaining > 90% of their starting weight, by the study’s end. In contrast, mice in the two
control groups lost 20% or more of their body weight by day 8 and all of them died between day § and day 8 post
challenge. The success of this therapy was statistically significant at a 95% level.

CEL-SCI was formed as a Colorado corporation in 1983, CEL-SCI's principal office is located ar 8229 Boone
Boulevard, Suite 802, Vienna, VA 22182, CEL-5CI's wlephone number is 703-306-9460 and its website is www.cel-
sci.com, CEL-SCI do¢s not incorporate the information on its website into this report, and vou should not consider it
part of this report.

CEL-5CI makes its clectronic filings with the Secuntics and Exchange Commission (SEC). including its annual
reponts on Form 10-K, quanerly reports on Form 10-0), current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reparts
available on its website free of charge as soon as practicable after they are filed or fumished 1o the SEC.



In this annual report, unless otherwise specified or the comtext requires otherwise, the terms “CEL-SCL"™ the
“Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” to refer to CEL-5CI Corporation. Our fiscal year ends on September 30,

CEL-SCI'S PRODUCTS

CEL-5CI is a clinical-stage biotechnology company dedicated to rescarch and development directed at improving the
treatment of cancer and other diseases by using the immune system, the body's natural defense system. CEL-SCI is
currently focused on the development of the following product candidates and echnologies:

13 Mulikine, an investigational immunotherapy under development for the potential weatment of certain
head and neck cancers;

2y LEAPS. (Ligand Epitopc Antigen Presemtation Sysiem) technology, or LEAPS, with wo
investigational therapies, CEL-2000 and CEL-4000, product candidates under development for the
potential treatment of theumatoid anhritis, and LEAPS COV-19, a product candidate under development
to potentially trem COVID-19 coronavirus,

MULTIKINE

CEL-SCI's lead investigational therapy, Multiking, is curmently being developed as a potential therapeutic agent
directed at using the immune system (o produce an anti-umor immune response. Data from Phase | and Phase 2
clinical trials suggest that Multikine may help the immune system “see” the tumor and then attack it, enabling the
body"s own anti-tumor immune response to Gght the wmor. Multikine is the trademark that CEL-SCI has registered
for this investigational therapy, and this proprictary name is subject to review by the FDA, in connection with CEL-
SCI's future anticipated regulatory submission for approval in the United States. Multikine has not been licensed or
approved lor sale, barter or exchange by the FDA or any other regulatory agency, such as the European Medicine
Agency, or EMA, and neither its safety nor its efTicacy have been established.

Multiking is an immunotherapy product candidate comprised of a patented delfined mixtire of 14 human natural
cviokines, If commercial approval is obtained, CEL-SCI intends 10 manufacture Muliikine in 2 proprictary manner in
CEL-5CI"s manufactuning facility. CEL-5CI spent over 10 years and more than $%0 million developing and validating
the manufaciuring process for Multikine. The pro-infammatory cytokine mixture includes interleukins, interferons,
chemokines and colony-stimulating factors, which contain clements of the body’s natural mix of defenses againsi
cancer.

Multiking is designed 1o be used in a different way than cancer immunotherapy is generally being used. Generally,
canger immunotherapy is given (o patients who have already failed other treatments such as surgery, radiation and'or
chemotherapy and most of the time it is administered systemically. Multikine on the other hand is administered locally
to treat tumors and their microcnyvironment before any other therapy has been administered because it is believed that
this is the time when the immune system would be strongest and most amenable to activation against the tumor, For
example, in the Phase 3 elinical trial, Mulukine was injected locally around the wmor and near the adjacent draining
Iymph nodes for three weeks, five days a week as a first ireatment before surgery., radiation and'or chemotherapy. The
goal is to help the inact immune system recognize and kill the mmor micro metastases that usually cause recurrence
of the cancer. In shori, CEL-SC1 believes that the local admimistration of Multiking before weakening of the immune
system by surgery, chemotherapy and radiation will result in better anti-tumor response than il Multiking wene
administered after surgery, radiation and chemotherapy. In clinical sudics of Multikine, administration of the
investigational therapy 1o head and neck cancer paticnis has demonstrated the potential for lesser or nd appreciable
toxicity.
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The first indication CEL-SCT is pursuing for its investigational drug product candidate Muliiking is an indication for
the neoadjuvant therapy in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, or SCCHN (herealier also
referred 1o as advanced primary head and neck cancer).

SCCHN represents the most prevalent type of head and neck cancer, and CEL-SCI believes that there is a large, unmet
medical need among head and neck cancer patients. CEL-SCT believes the last FDA approval of a therapy indicated
for the treatment of advanced primary head and neck cancer was over 60 years ago, In the aggregate, head and neck
canger represents about 6% of the world’s cancer cases, with approximately 650,000 patients diagnosed worldwide
cach year, of which approximately 60,000 patients are diagnosed annually in the United States and approximately
105,000 patients are diagnosed annually in Europe.  Multikine investigational immunotherapy has boen granted
Orphan Drug designation for neoadjuvant therapy in patients with SCCHN by the FDA in the United States.

The current Phase 3 study for Multikine was designed with the objective that, if the study endpoint, which is an
improvement in overall survival of the subjects treated with the Multikine treatment regimen plus the current Standand
of Care (SOC) as compared 1o subjects treated with the eurrent SOC only, is satisfied, the study results are expected
o be used 1o suppon applications that CEL-SCI plans to submit 10 regulatory agencies in order 1o scck commercial
marketing approvals for Multikine in major markets around the world, The assessment of whether the pnimary study
endpoint was mel can only be made when a cerain number of events (deaths) have occurmed in these two main
comparator groups of the study.,

The primary endpoint for the protocol for ihis Phase 3 head and neck cancer study required that a 10% mcrease
overall survival be obtained in the Mulikine group which also is administered CIZ (C1Z = low dose (non-
chemotherapeutic) of cvclophosphamide, indomethacin and Zinc-multivitamins) all of which are thought 1o enhance
Muliikine activity), plus SOC (Surgery + Radiotherapy or Chemoradiotherapy), over the control comparator (SOC
alone) amm. As the study was designed, the final determination of whether this endpoint had been successfully reached
can only be determined when 298 events have eccurred in the combined comparator arms of the study. This study
milestone occurred in late Apnl 2020 and the Phase 3 siudy is currenily in the analysis phase.

Nine hundred twenty-cight (928) newly diagnosed head and neck cancer patients have been enrolled in this Phase 3
cancer siudy and all the patients who have completed treatment continue 1o be followed for protocol-specilic outcomes
in accordance with the study protocol. The last patient was enrolled in the study in September 20016, Approximately
135 patients were enrolled in the smdy from 2001 10 2013, abowt 195 were enrolled in 2014, about 3401m 201 5, and
about 260 in 2016,  An analysis conducied using the SEER (Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Resulis) U.S.
government data base for the same study population as CEL-5CI enrolled in this Phase 3 study and covering the vears
201 1-20016 (when the patients were enrolled), shows that the standard of care for these patients has not resulted in an
improvement in survival, In fact, the US. survival of the specific type of patients enrolled in the Phase 3 study during
the study vears was only about 47% at 3 years and about 37% at 5 years.



This trial is curremly under the management of two clinical research organizations, or CROs: ICON plc., or ICON,
and Ergomed Clinical Research Limited, or Ergomed.

Since CEL-SCI launched its Phase 3 clinical trial for Muliiking, CEL-SCI has incurred expenses of approximately
S58.9 million as of September 30, 2020 on direct costs for the Phase 3 clinical trial. CEL-5CI estimates it will incur
addiional expenses of approximately 35.9 million for the remainder of the Phase 3 climical trial and the filing of the
clinical study report 1o the FDA. It should be noted that this estimate is based only on the information currently
available from the CROs responsible for managing the Phase 3 clinical trial and does not include other related costs,
¢.g., preparations for the potential commercial manufacure of the drug.  This estimate may be affected by the forcign
currency exchange rates and many other Bictors, some of which cannot be foreseen today. It is therefore possible that
the cost of the Phase 3 clinical trial may be higher than currently estimated.

Uliimanely, the decision as 1o whether CEL-8CI's drug product candidate is safe and effective can only be made by
the FDA and'or by other regulatory authoritics based upon an assessment of all of the data from an entire drug
development program submitied as part of an application for marketing approval. The current Phase 3 clinical study
for CEL-5CI's investigational drug may or may not be able to be used as the pivotal study supporting a marketing
application in the United States, and, if not, a1 lcast onc entirely new Phase 3 pivotal study would need to be conducted
to suppont a marketing application in the United States. However, CEL-5CI does not believe that this is likely.

LEAPS

CEL-5CI’s patented T-cell Modulation Process, referred to as LEAPS (Ligand Epitope Antigen Presentation System),
uses “hetcroconjugates” o direct the body to choose a specific immune response, LEAPS is designed 1o stimulae the
human immune system o more effectively lght bactenal, viral and parasitic mfections as well as autoimimung
conditions, allergics, transplantation rejection and canocer, when it cannot do o on its own. LEAPS combines T-cell
binding ligands with small, discase associated, peptide antigens and may provide a new methed 1o trear and prevemt
certain diseases.

The ability to gencrate a specific immune response is imporant because many discases are often not combated
effectively due o the body's sclection of the “inappropriaic™ immune response. The capability to specifically
FCProgram an immune response may ofTer a more effective approach than existing vaccines and drugs in attacking an
underlying discase,

CEL-SCI began developing an immunotherapy with the potential 1o treat the COVID-19 coronavirus using its patented
LEAPS pepiide technology. On March 23, 2020, CEL-SCI signed a collaboration agreement with the University of
Georgia's Center for Vaccines and Immunology 10 develop LEAPS COV-19 immunotherapy. The LEAPS peptides
will utilize conserved regions of coronavinus proteins to stimulate protective cell mediated T cell responses and reduce
viral load. The LEAPS peptide technology can be used 1o construct immunotherapeutic peptides that exhibit both
antiviral and anti-inflammatory propertics. Consequently, these products not only arget the virus infection agamst
which they are directed, but also elicit the appropriate prolective response(s) against il.

On July 24, 2020, CEL-SCI announced it had concluded animal experiments using its LEAPS COV-19 conjugate that
provide the basis for moving forward into animal challenge swudics with live virus SARS-CoV-2, the causative agent
of COVID-19, at the UGA’s Center for Vaccines and Immunclogy. The animal experiments showed that LEAPS
COV-19 conjugates induced [aster and much higher than expected antibody responses against a non-mulating region
of the virus thai causes COVID-1%, after only one injection. Ii is imporiani o noic that IgG aniibodies response was
generated within 10 days of a single immunization. Generation of 1gG requires activation of dendritic, T and B cells
in order to promote the class switch from IgM to 12G antibody.

On December 1, 2020, CEL-SCI announced thm LEAPS COV-19 peplides, delivered as a therapeutic treatment
following SARS-CoV-2 virus challenge, achieved a 40% survival rate in transgenic mouse models as compared to 0%
survival in the two control groups in siudies conducied ai the University of Georgia Cenier for Vaccines and
Immunology. The animals were therapeutically wreated with CEL-SCI's LEAPS COV-19 peptides one day afier
infection with a lethal dose of SARS-CoV-2, O the LEAPS treated mice, forty percent (40%6) were alive, recovering



and regained lost weight. attmning > 90% of their starting weight, by the study’s end. In contrast, mice in the two
control groups lost 20% or more of their body weight by day 8 and all of them died between day 5 and day 8 post
challenge. The success of this therapy was statistically sipnificant at a 95% level. An additional study conducied using
LEAPS as a vaccine 1o prevent discase resulted in similar findings 1o the above described study, but with a slightly
lower level of statistical significance. In this study. the Humam(hy ACE2 transgenic mice were dosed twice with the
LEAPS conjugate 28 and 14 days prior 1o being challenged with a lethal dose of SARS-CoV-2 virus. CEL-SCI"s next
step 15 1o leverage the findings from these two animal studies into future studies that will optimize treatment dosing
and test additional LEAPS peptides as a therapy.

Predictions of success using the LEAPS peplides against COVID-19 coronavirus are based on previous studics
conducted in collaboration with the Mational Institmes for Allergics and Infectious Discases (NIAID) with another
respiratory virus, pandemic influcnea (HINI). In those siudics, LEAPS peptides elicited protection of mice from
morbidity and monality after the introduction of infection by activating appropriate T cell responses rather than an
inflammatory response. These SARS-CoV-2 challenge studies a1 the University of Georgia®s Center for Vaccines and
Immunology seck to repeat the success of animal challenge studics conducted previously at the NIAID emerging
discases laboratory during the threatened HINI Mo pandemic. LEAPS is in the carly stages for treating COVID-19
coronavirus and there is no guarantee that CEL-SCI will be able to replicate the results from its prior studies.
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On September 19, 2017, CEL-SCI announced that it had been awarded a Phase 2 Small Business Innovation Rescarch
(SBIR) grant in the amount of $1.5 million from the National Institute of Anthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin
Discases, or NIAMS, which is pant of the U.S. National Instimstes of Health (NIH). This grant will provide funding
to allow CEL-SCI to advance its first LEAPS product candidate, CEL-4000, towards an Investigational New Drug
(IND} application for a Phase | safety smdy by funding IND enabling stdies and additional mechanism of action
siudies among other preclinical development activities. Work on CEL-400d) is being conducied at CEL-SCI's rescarch
laboratory and Rush University Medical Center in Chicago, llinois in the laboratorics of Tibor Glant, MD, Ph.D.,
Jorge O, Galante Professor of Onthopedic Surgery and Katalin Mikecz, MD, Ph.D. Professor of Onhopedic Surgery
& Biochemistry. The SBIR grant was awarded based on published data deseribed below by Dr. Glant's team in
collaboration with CEL-SCI showing that the administration of a proprictary peptide using CEL-SCI's LEAPS
technology prevented the development, and lessened the severity, including inflammation, of experimental
proteoglycan induced anhritis (PGIA or GIA) when it was administered afler the disease was induced in animals,

In May 2019, CEL-5CI announced that a newly discovered LEAPS conjugate acts alone and can complemen CEL-
4000 therapeutically when sdministered in combination to an animal model of Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA). This new
LEAPS conjugate appears 1o act on T cell pathways by a new mechanism that is different from the pathways used by
the CEL-4000 vaccing, The data was presented at the Amencan Association of Immunologists 103rd Annual Mecting
(Immunology 2019 by Daniel Zimmerman, Ph.D., CEL-SCI's Senior Vice Presidemt of Research, Cellular
Immunology. The work was performed in conjunction with rescarchers at Rush University Medical Center, Chicago,
Minois and was funded by the SBIR Phase 2 Grant,

In July 2019, one of CEL-SCI's collaborators from Rush University, Dr. Adrienn Markovics presented new LEAPS
data at i=Chem2019, International Conference on Immunity and Immunochemistry. Data presented was for a new
second RA conjugate discovered which acts alone and can complement the existing CEL-4000 RA vaccing in an
animal model of RA. The combination of the two RA conjugates provided not only broader epitope coverage, but
also a greater therapeutic effect than cither conjugate alone, The LEAPS work was performed in conjunction with
rescarchers at CEL-SCT on CEL-4000 and a newly discovered LEAPS conjugate, DerG-PG275Ci1. Both conjugales
wene evaluated alone and in combination in the model of protcoglvean [PG) induced arthritis (PGIA) called
recombinant PG Gl domain-induced arthritis (GIA). an auoimmune mouse mode] of RA,

In February 2017 and November 2006, CEL-SCT announced preclinical data that demonstrate its investigational new
drug candidate CEL-4000 has the potential to wreat cheumatoid arthritis, This study was supponted in pan by the SBIR
Phase | Grant and was conducted in collaboration with Drs. Katalin Mikece and Tibor Glant, and their research team
at Rush University Medical Center in Chicago, IL. This work was published in an anticle entitled “An epitope-specific
Der(i-PGTO LEAPS vaccine modulates T cell responses and nmﬂﬂms arthritis pmwsim in twe related murine
mroxdels of ehewmatoid artheinis” and can be found online a :




Prior to the SBIR Phase 2 grant, CEL-5C1 was awarded a Phase | SBIR grant in the amount of 225,000 from NIAMS.
This gram funded the development of CEL-SCI's LEAPS technology as a potential irgatment for rheumatoid anthritis,
an autoimmune discase of the joints. The work was conducted at Rush University Medical Center in Chicago, Hlinois
in the laboratories of Tibor Glam, MD, Ph.D., Katalin Mikecz, MD, Ph.D., and Allison Finnegan, Ph.D. Professor of
Medicine.

With the support of these SBIR gramts, CEL-SCI is developing several new drug candidates, CEL-2000 and CEL-
4000, as potential rheumatoid arthritis therapeutic treatments. The data from animal studies using the CEL-2000
treatment suggests that it could be used against rheumatoid anhritis with fewer administrations than those required by
other anti-rheumatoid anhritis reatments curmently on the market for arthnitic conditions associated with the Thi7
signature cytokine TWNF-a. The preclinical data indicates these peptides could be used against rheumatoid arthritis
where a Thl signature cytokine (IFN-y) is dominant. CEL-2040 and CEL-4000 cach have the potential 1o become a
personalized, discase-specific therapy, that acts a1 an carlier step in the disease process than current therapics, and
which may be useful in patients not responding 1o existing rheumanoid arthritis therapies. CEL-SCI believes this
represents a large unmet medical need in the rheumatoid arthritis market.

In March 2015, CEL-SC1 and its collaborators published a review anticle on vaccing therapics for rheumatoid anthritis

based in pan on work supported by the SBIR Phase | grant. The anicle is entitled “Rheumatoid anhritis vaccine

therapies: perspectives and lessons from thermpeutic Ligand Epitope Antigen Presentation System vaccines for models

of rheumatoid anhnlls and was published in Expent Review of Vaccines | - 18 and can be found online mt
iww v/ 25TRTI43,

Using the LEAPS technology, CEL-SCI has also tested in preclinical studies a potential peptide treamment for HINI
(swinc Mu) hospitalized patients, a disease which does not represent a problem amy more. Therefore CEL-SCI is no
longer developing a reatment against HIN1, This LEAPS M tremment was designed to focus on the conserved, non-
changing epitopes of the different strains of Type A Influenza viruses (HINI, HSNT, H3NI, e1c.), including “swine™,
“avian or bird”, and “Spanish Influenza”, in order to minimize the chanee of viral “escape by mutations™ from immune
recognition.

In May 2011 NIAID scientists presented data at the Keystone Conference on “Pathogenesis of Influenia: Virus-Host
Interactions™ in Hong Kong. China, showing the positive results of efMicacy studies in mice of LEAPS HINI activated
dendritic cells (DCs) o treat the HINI virus. Scientists at the NIAID found that HIN L-infected mice treated with
LEAPS-HIN] DCs showed a survival advaniage over mice treated with control DCs. The work was performed in
collaboration with scientists led by Kanta Subbarao, M.D., Chief of the Emerging Respiratory Discascs Section in
MNIAID's Division of Intramural Research, part of the National Institutes of Health, USA.

In July 2013, CEL-SCI announced the publication of the resulis of influenza studies by rescarchers from the NIAID
in Ihc Journal of Clinical Investigation (www jci orglanicles'view /675500, The studies described in the prIlcﬂm
show that when CEL-SCIT's investigational J-LEAPS Influenza Vins treatments were used “in vitro™ to activate DCs,
these activated DCs. when injected into influenza infected mice. armested the progression of lethal influenza virus
infection in these mice. The work was performed in the labormory of Dr. Subbarao.

Accordingly, even though the various LEAPS candidates have not yet been given 1o humans, they have been tested in
witrg with human cells, They have induced similar cytoking responses that wene seen in these animal models, which
may indicate that the LEAPS technology might translate to humans. The LEAPS candidates have demonsirated
protection against lethal herpes simplex virus (HSV 1) and HINIT influenza infection, as a prophylactic or therapeutic
agent in animals, They have also shown some level of activity in animals in two autoimmune conditions, curtailing
and sometimes preventing discase progression in arthritis and myocarditis animal models.

Mone of the LEAPS investigational products have been approved for sale, baner or exchange by the FDA or any other
regulatory agency for any use to treat discase in animals or humans. The safety or cfficacy of these products has not
been established for any use. Lastly, no definitive conclusions can be drvwn from the carly-phase, preclinical-irials
data involving these investigational products. Before obtaining marketing approval from the FDA in the United States,
and by comparable agencies in most foreign countries, these product candidates must undergo rigorous preclinical and
clinical testing which is costly and time consuming and subject to unanticipated delays. There can be no assurance
that these approvals will be granted,
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Before stanting the Phase 3 clinical trial, for reasons related to regulatory considerations, CEL-SCI built a dedicated
manufacturing facility 1o produce s investigational biological product candidate Multikine. This facility produced
multiple clinical lots for the Phase 3 clinical tnal and has also passed quality sysiems review by a European Union
Qualificd Person on several occasions, CEL-SCI is currently expanding the manulacturing facility so CEL-SCT will
be able to meet the expected demand for Muhikine if a hoense is granted. CEL-5C1's lease on the manufacturing
facility expires on October 31, 2028,
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RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

As of September 30, 2020, there were approximately 617 record holders of CEL-SCI's commeon stock. CEL-SCT's
common stock is traded on the NYSE American under the symbol “CVM™,

Shown below are the range of high and low quotations for CEL-SCI’s common stock for the periods indicated as
reported on the NYSE Amenican, The market quotations reflect imer-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down
or commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Cuarter Ending High Low

12/31/2018 $4.39 $2.60
33120019 $3.55 $2.37
630/2019 58.99 5am
930/2019 £9.93 £5.80
1273172019 59.74 £6.00
331/2020 S17.80 $6.35
G/30/2020 S18.00 59.64
302020 S15.10 £11.29

Holders of comumon stock are entitled to receive dividends as may be declared by CEL-SCI's Board of Directors out
of tegally available funds and, in the ¢vent of liquidiation, 1o share pro rata in any distiribution of CEL-SCIs asscts
after payvinent of habilities. CEL-5CI"s Board of Directors is not obligated 1o declare a dividend. CEL-SCI has nat
paid any dividends on its common stock and CEL-5CI does not have any current plans 1o pay any common stock
dividends.

The provisions in CEL-SCI's Articles of Incorporation relating to CEL-5C1"s preferred stock allow CEL-SCI's
directors to issue prefermed stock with rights o multiple voles per share and dividend rights which would have priority
over any dividends paid with respect to CEL-SC1's common stock. The mssuance of preferred stock with such nghts
may make more difficult the removal of management ¢ven if such removal would be considered beneficial 10
sharcholders generally, and will have the effect of limiting sharcholder participation in certain transactions such as
mergers or iender oflers il such transactions are not favoered by incumbent managemeni.

The market price of CEL-SCI"s common stock, as well as the securitics of other biopharmaccutical and biotechnology
companics, have historically been highly volaile, and the market has from time 1o time experienced significant price
and volume Muctaations that are unrelated 1o the operating performance of particular companics. Factors such as
Nuectuations in CEL-5C1"s operating results, announcements of technological innovations or new therapeutic products
by CEL-SCI or its competitors, governmemal regulation, developments in patent or other proprictary rights, public
concem as 10 the safety of products which may be developed by CEL-5CI or other biotechnology and phanmaccutical
companics, and general market conditions may have a significant ¢ifect on the market price of CEL-5CI1's common
stock.
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The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the related notes thereio
appearing clsewhere in this report.

CEL-SCI has fully enrolled 928 paticnts in 2 Phase 3 clinical trial for its lead investigational therapy, Multikine, in
advanced primary head and neck cancer. This study was cleared by the U.S. FDA as well as twenty-three other
countries. The pivotal Phase 3 study reached the targeted threshold of 298 events (deaths) required to conduct the data
evaluation, CEL-5CI is now in the phase that involves final analysis of the trial resulis. CEL-SCI will continue 10
remain blinded 1o the study resulis throughout this process, CEL-SCT will be advised of the results when the analysis
is completed and the study results will be announced 1o the public at that time.

CEL-5CI also owns and is developing a pre-clinical technology called LEAPS,

All of CEL-SCI"s projects arc under development. As a result, CEL-SCT cannot predict when it will be able 1o gencrate
any revenue from the sale of any of its products,

Since inception, CEL-SCI has financed its operations through the issuance of cquity securitics, convertible notes,
loans and certain rescarch grants, CEL-SCT's expenses will likely exceed its revenucs as it continues the development
of Muliikine and brings other drug candidaies into climical irials. Uniil such time as CEL-S5CI becomes profitable,
any or all of these financing vehicles or others may be utilized 1o assist CEL-SCI's capital requircments,

Results of Operations

During the year ended September 30, 2020, grant income increased by approximately 30,1 million compared 1o the
wear ended September 30, 2019, The income relates to a Phase 2 Small Business Innovation Rescarch (SBIR) grant
in the amount of $1.5 million received in Scptember 2007 from the National Institute of Arthritis Muscoskeletal and
Skin Discases, which is part of the National Institutes of Health (NIH). This grant will provide funding to allow CEL-
SCI 1o advance its first LEAPS product candidate, CEL-4000, towards an Investigational Mew Drug (IND) application,
by funding IND enabling studies, and additional mechanism of action studies, among other preclinical development
activities.

During the vear ended September 30, 2020, research and development expenses increased by approximalely $5.2
million, or 41%, compared 1o the year ended September 30, 2019, Major components of this increase include
approximarely 52,1 million in expenscs 1o prepare for the potential filing of a Biologics License Application (BLA)
and commercial manufaciure of Multikine. Additional componenis of the increase include, 52.7 million increase in
employee stock compensation expense, of which $0.7 million was incurred under the 2020 Non-Oualified Stock
Option Plan, $1.2 million increase in depreciation expense resulting from the adoption of the new leasing standard,
and an increase of approximately $0.4 million in other miscellancous rescarch and developmem expenses. These
ingreases were offset by a decrease of approximately $1.2 million in expenses related 1o CEL-5C1"s on-going Phasc
3 clinical trial,

During the vear ended September 30, 2020, gencral and administrative expenscs increased by approximately 83.7
million, or 46%, compared to the year ended Scpiember 30, 2009, A major component of the increase is an
approximate 53.0 million increase in employee stock compensation costs, of which approximately 51.4 million was
incurred under the 2020 Non-Calified Siock Option Plan. Additionally, depreciation on leased assets increased by
approximately S0.3 million as a result of the adoption of the new leasing siandard effective October 1, 2019, and an
approximately $0.4 million net increase in other general and administrative costs.

During the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, CEL-SCI recorded derivative losses of approximately $0.3
million and $0.8 million, respectively. This variation was the resull of the change in fair value of the denvalive
liabilitics during the period which was caused by Muctuations in the share price of CEL-5CT's common stock.

Other non-operating gaim increased by approximately S0.3 million for the vear ¢nded Seplember 30, 2020 a5 compared
to the year ended September 30, 2009, This gain relates 1o the Scecuritics Purchase Agrecment described in Note 12
to the financial statements included as pant of this report. The amount of the gain or loss is a result of the timing of
shares issued to Ergomed and the subsequent re-sale of those shares. During the years ended September 30, 2020 and
2019, the Company issucd 150,000 and 750,000 shares, respectively, to Erpomed and recorded a non-operating loss



equal 10 the fair value of those shares of approximately $1.8 million and $3.4 million, respectively. During the year
ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, Ergomed received approximately $2.7 million and $3.9 million, respectively,
from the resale of these shares,

During the year ended September 30, 2020, the Company issued Series XX and Series Y'Y warrants to induce holders
of Series V warmants to exercise their warrants, Upon acceplance of the warrant inducement offer, the aggregate value
of the inducement warrants of approximately S0.8 million was recorded as an expense.  All unexercised Senies V
warmants expired in Sepiember 2020,

Net interest expense decreased by approximately 0.8 million for the year ended Sepiember 30, 2020 compared to the
year ended September 30, 2019 due 1o a reduction in the interest rate applied to the Company’s linance leases that
wene re-measured in conncction with the adoption of ASC 842, Leases, effective October 1, 2019,

h W e

CEL-SCI’s rescarch and development ¢fforts involved Multiking and LEAPS. The table below shows the rescarch
and development expenses associated with cach project duning the reporting periods.

Year ended September 30,

2020 2019
Multikine § 16146248 5 11,623,050
LEAPS 1.604.042 1,036,237

Total research and development 5 17.840.290 5§ 12659287

CEL-SCI’s Phase 3 ¢linical irial began in December 2000 after the completion and validation of CEL-SC1"s dedicaied
manufcturing facility,

CEL-5CI is involved in pre-clinical studies with respect 1o its LEAPS technology. As with Multikine, CEL-SCI does
not know what obstacles it will encounter in future pre-clinical and clinical studics involving its LEAPS technology.
Consequently, CEL-5CI cannot predict with any certainty the funds required for future rescarch and clinical irials and
the timing of future rescanch and development projects.

Liquidity and Capital R

CEL-SCI has had only limited revenues from operations since its inception in March 1983, CEL-SCI has relicd
primarily upon capital generated from the public and private offerings of its common stock and convertible notes. In
addition, CEL-SCI has utilized shor-term loans to meet its capital requirements. Capital raised by CEL-5CI has been
used to acquire an exclusive worldwide license to use, and later purchase, cenain patented and unpatented proprictary
technology and know-how relating 1o the human immunological defense svstem and for clinical wrials. Capital has
also been used for patent applications, debt repayment, research and development, admimstrative costs, and for CEL-
SCI's laboratory and manufacturing facilities. CEL-SCI does not anticipate realizing significant revenues until it
enters into licensing arrangements regarding its technology and know-how or until it receives regulatory approval 1o
sell its products (which could take a number of years). As a result, CEL-SCT has been dependent primarily upon the
proceeds from the sale of its securities to meet all of its liquidity and capital requirements and anticipates having 1o
do 50 in the future. During fiscal year 2020 and 2019, CEL-5C1 raised nct proceeds of approximately 525 8 million
and $14.8 million, respectively, through a combination of the sale of common stock and the exercise of warrants and
options. In December 2020, the CEL-SCI sold 1,000,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price ol 514.65
per share and received aggregate net proceeds of approximately $13.6 million. Under the terms of the Underwriting
Agreement the Company granted the Underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 150,000 shares of
common stock at the public offering price to cover over-allolments,

In August 2007, CEL-SCI leased a building near Balumore, Maryland. The building, which consists of approximately
73,0000 sqqueare fieet, has been remodeled in accordance with CEL-SCIs specifications so that it can be used by CEL-
SC1 to manufaciure Multikine for CEL-SC1"s Phase 11 clinical trials and sales of the drug if approved by the FDA.
The lease expires on October 31, 2028, and required annual base rent payvments of approximately 51,9 million during
the twelve months ended September 30, 2020,



In March 2020, the Company sold 630,500 shares of common stock at a public offenng price of $12.22 per share and
received aggregate net proceeds of approximately $7.1 million. Under the werms of the Underwriting Agreement the
Company granted the Underwriters a 45-day option 1o purchase up 1o an additional 94,575 shares of commaon stock
solely 1o cover over-allotments.  The underwriter fully exercised this option in May 2020 resulting in additional net
proceeds to the Company of approximately 51.1 million,

In December 2009, the Company sold 606,395 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $9.07 per share
and received aggregate net proceeds of approximately $5.0 million.  In January 2020, the underwriters of that ofTering
fully exercised an option to purchase 90,959 additional shares of common stock at the public offering price of $9.07
per share for aggregate net proceeds to the Company of approximately $0.% million.

The following charts list the warrants that were exercised and the proceeds received during the years ended Seprember
30, 2020 and 2019,

Fiscal Year 2020
Warrants Exercise
Warrants Excrcised Price Proceeds
Senies CC 128,820 55.00 5 644,100
Series FF 68, (4% £31.91 265812
Senies HH 6,300 5113 19,687
Senies JJ 9450 £3.13 29,531
Senes LL 26,308 $31.50 94,567
Series MM 95 858 51.86 178,296
Serics NN 124,956 $2.52 314,889
Series 00 50,004 82,52 1 26,000
Series RR 39.467 51.65 65,121
Series 55 156,580 52,00 327,252
Series TT 188,125 £2.24 421 400
Series UL 61,207 5280 171,380
Series V 674,164 $13.75 9,269,755
Series VV 82,500 £1.75 144,375
LI1LS73 S12.072.468
Eiscal Year 2019
Warrants
Warrams Exercised Exercise Price Proceeds
Serics OO 403,017 55,00 £ 2015085
Senes GG W0, (0K L300 00, (W)
Senes HH 13,500 5313 42,188
Series 11 216,500 £3.00 649 500
Senes 1) 20,550 5313 64,219
Serics KK 213,870 5304 G (95
Serics NN 65,502 52.52 5165065
Senes 00 10,000 52,52 25200
Series PP 172,500 $2.30 196,750
Serics Q0 3,500 £2.50 8,750
Series RR 98254 5165 162,119
Series 55 477 886 209 998,782
Serics TT 737,188 $2.24 1,651,301
Seres UL 32,752 5280 91,706
Serics VV 3,817,500 5175 6,680,625
Serics WW 195,000 S1.63 116,875
6672519 $14.517.260

CEL-SCI emered into Securitics Purchase Agrecments (SPAs) with Ergomed ple, one of CEL-SCI’s Clinical Rescarch
Organizations responsible for managing the Phase 3 elinical irial, 10 facilitate payment of amounts due Ergomed.
Under the Agreements, CEL-5C] issucd Ergomed shares of common stock and the net proceeds from the sales of
those shares reduces outstanding amounts due Erpomed.  Upon issuance, CEL-5CI expenses the full value of the



shares as Other non-operating gain/loss and subsequemly oifseis the expense as amounts are realized through the sale
by Ergomed and reduces accounts payable to Ergomed.

During the vear ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, CEL-SCI issued Ergomed 150,000 and 750,000 shares,
respectively.

The following table summarizes the Other Non-operating gains for the years ended September 30 relating 1o these
agrecments:

2020 19
Amount realized through the resale of shares £ 2,652,605 5 3945528
Fair value of shares upon issuance 1,769 500 3,000, 0040
(Orther non-operating gain (loss) &  RR3105 £ 545528

As ol Seprember 30, 2020, Ergomed held 102,521 shares for resale. As of September 30, 2019, Ergomed held 195,000
shares for resale.

During the year ended September 30, 2020, CEL-SCI's cash inereased by approximately 57.1 million. Signiffcant
components of this increase include: Net proceeds received of approximately $25.8 million from the sale of common
stock and the exercise of warrants and stock options, offset by net cash used in operating activities of approximately
$15.2 million, purchases of capitalizable property, equipment and patents of approximately 52.7 million, and
approximately $0.8 million in lease payments.

Primarily as a resull of CEL-SCI’s losses incurred to date, its expected continued future losses, and limited cash
balances, CEL-SCI has included a disclosure in its financial statements expressing substantial doubt about its ability
1o continue a5 a going concem, CEL-SCT has included such an explanatory paragraph on numerous occasions in the
preceding years.

Future Capital Requi

CEL-SCI's material capital commitments include funding operating losses, funding its rescarch and development
program and making required lease payments. Additionally, the Company 15 currently upgrading the manufacturing
facility 1o prepare for the potential commercial production of Multikine. Estimated costs io compleie the upgrade are
£7 4 million, $2.4 million of which the landlord of the property has contingently agreed 1o finance,

Further, CEL-SCI has contingent obligations with vendors for work that will be completed in relation 1o the Phase 3
trial, The timing of these obligations cannot be determined at this time, CEL-SCI estimates it will incur additional
expenses of approximately 55.9 million for the remainder of the Phase 3 clinical trial and the filing of the clinical
study report to the FDA. 1t should be noted that this estimaie is based only on the information currenily available
from the CROs responsible for managing the Phase 3 clinical rial and does not include other related costs, e.g., the
manufacturing of the drg.

On May 4, 2020, CEL-SCI anncunced that the pivotal Phase 3 head and neck cancer study of Muliikine
immunotherapy had reached the targeted threshold of 298 events (deaths) required to conduct the data evaluation,
CEL-SCI is now in the phase that involves final analysis of the trial resulis. CEL-SCI may or may not need 1o raise
additional funds to reach the final read-out of the Phase 3 inal depending on the length of time it takes. However,
CEL-3CI will need to raise additional funds, either through the exercise of outstanding warrants'options, through a
debt or equity financing or a parinering arrangement, 1o bring Mulitkine 10 markei. The ability of CEL-S8CI wo
complete the necessary clinical trials and obtain FDA approval for the sale of products to be developed on a
commercial basis is uncertain. | However, it 15 possible that CEL-5CT will not be able to gencrate enough cash 1o
continue operations at its current level. CEL-SCIs registered independent public accounting firm has issued an audit
opinion that includes an explanatory paragraph that expresses substantial doubt about CEL-SCIs ability to continue
as a poing concem mainly due o contineed losses from operations and future liquidity needs of CEL-SCI. CEL-SCI's
management has engaged in fundraising for over 25 vears and believes that the manner in which it is proceeding will
produce the best possible outcome for the sharcholders. There can be no assurances that CEL-5C1 will be successiul
in raising additional funds.



Clinical and other studies necessary 10 obiain regulatory approval of a new drug invelve significant costs and require
several years to complete. The extent of CEL-5CI’s clinical trials and research programs are primarily based upon
the amount of capital available to CEL-5CI and the extent to which CEL-5CI has reccived regulatory approvals for
clinical inals. The inability of CEL-5CI to conduct clinical trials or rescarch, whether due to a lack of capital or
regulatory approval, will prevent CEL-SC1 from completing the studies and research required to obtain regulatory
approval for any products which CEL-SCI is developing. Without regulatory approval, CEL-SCT will be unable 1o
sell any of its producis.

In the absence of revenues, CEL-SCI will be required to raise additional funds through the sale of securitics. debt
financing or other arrangements in order (o continue with its rescarch eforts. However, there can be no assurance
that such financing will be available or be available on fvorable terms. Ultimately, CEL-SCI must complete the
development of its products, obtain appropriate regulatory approvals and obtain sufficient revenues 1o support iis cost
siructure.

Since all of CEL-5C1's projects are under development, CEL-SCI cannot predict with any certainty the funds required
for future rescarch and clinical irials, the fiming of fwture rescarch and development projects, or when it will be able
1o gencrate any revenue from the sale ol any of its products.

CEL-5CT's cash flow and camings are subject 1o Muctuations due 1o changes in interest rales on its bank accounts, and
foreign currency exchange rates.

Critical A ing Polici

CEL-SCT's significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 3 10 the financial siatements included as
part of this report.  However, cenain accounting policics are panicularly important to the portrayal of CEL-5CI's
financial position and results of operitions and require the application of significant judgments by management. As a
result, the financial statements are subject to an inherent degree of uncenainty. In applying those policics,
managemenl uses its judgment 1o determing the appropriate assumplions 1o be used in the dewermination of cerain
cstimates. These estimates are based on CEL-SCI's histonical expenence, terms of existing contracts, abservance of
trends in the industry and information available from outside sources, as appropriate,

Management believes that the following critical accounting policics require the most significant judgmenis and
estimates with respect in the preparation of CEL-5CI's financial statements.

Share-based Compensation- Share-based compensation cost to employees is measured al fair value as of the grani
date in accordance with the provisions of ASC 715, The fair value of the stock options is calculated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The Black-5choles model requires various judgmental assumptions including volatility
and expected option life. The compensation cost is recognized as expense over the requisite service or vesting period.
Performance-based options are valued using a Monte-Carlo simulation model, which requires inputs based on
cstimates, including the likelihood of the occurrence of performance and market conditions, volatility and expected
option life,

In Ociober 2019, the Company adopied ASU 2018-07, Compensaiion — Stock Compensation (Topic 718), which
expands the scope of Topic 718 (o include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from
nonemplovees, and thus, the accounting for share-based payments 1o non-employees will be substantially aligned.
Adoption of the new guidance had no impact on the financial statements and related disclosures,

Derivative fnstruments—CEL-SC enters into financing armangements that consist of freestanding derivative
instruments or hybrid instruments that contain embedded derivative feawres. CEL-SCI accounts for these
arrangements in accordance with ASC 815, Aceownring for Derivative Insiriments and Hedging Activittes, as well as
related interpretations of these standards. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("GAAP™), derivative instnuments and hybrid instruments are recognized as cither assets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position and are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognized in camings or other
comprehensive income depending on the nature of the derivative or hybrid instruments. Embedded derivatives that
are not clearly and elosely related to the host comtract are bifurcated and recognized st fair value with changes in fair
value recognized as cither a gain or loss in camings if they can be reliably measured. When the fair value of embedded
derivative features cannot be reliably measured, CEL-SCI measures and reponis the entire hyvbrid instrument at fair
value with changes in fair value recognized as cither a gain or loss in camings, CEL-SCI determines the fair value of



derivative instruments and hybrid instrumenis based on available market data using appropriate valuation models.
giving consideration to all of the rights and obligations of each instrument and precluding the use of “blockage™
discounis or premiums in determining the Gair value of a large block of financial instruments. Fair value under these
conditions docs not necessanily represent fair value determined using valuation standards that give consideration o
blockage discounts and other factors thal may be considered by market participants in establishing fair value,
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Siockholders and Board of Direciors
CEL-SCI Corpomation
Vienna, Virginia

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of CEL-5CI Corporation (the “Company™) as of September 30, 2020 and 2019,
the related stalements of operations, stockholders® equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively
referred toas the “financial statements™), In our opinton, the finapcial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
posttion of the Company at September 30, 2020 and 2019, and the results of 118 operations and its cash ows for the years then
ended, in conformaty with accounting principles gencrally accepied in the Unated States of Amenica.

Going Concern Uncertainty

The accompanying financial stalements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concerm. As
discussed in Note 2 1o the fmancial statements, since mmmlhc{um h.lsmﬂhcdrmm;humﬁmmmsnd
expects 1o conlinge incurmng bosses. In addition, the Company s dependent on rasang additonal capatal to contimue o fund s
operations. These factors rise substantial doubt about the Company”s abality to continue as a going concam. Management®s plans
in regard 1o these matlers are also deseribed in Note 2. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might resuli
froam the outcome of this uncertainty.

Change in Accounting Principle

As descussed 0 Note 3 10 the consolidated fMnancial satements, the Company has changed ilx methad of accountimg for leases as
of October 1, 2019 due 1o the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 842, Leases,

Basis for Opinion

These linancial statements an ihe responsibiliiy of the Company’s managemeni. Our responsibility is fo express an opinion on ihe
Company's lnancial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board {United States) (“PCAOR™) and are requiresd 1o be imdependent with respect 1o the Company m
accordance with the ULS. federal secunbies laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Secunties and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit 1o obtain repsonable assurance aboul whether the financial stafements are free of matenal misstatement, whether due 1o error
or froud. The Company is not regquired to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its intemnal control over financial
n-pumn;, As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of intemal control over financial rcpm.mg bt nad fior

the purpose nl'r_:prmmgl.nnpm om the effectivencss of the Company s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
W express i such opinkmn.

Our audits included performing procedures o assess the nsks of matenal misstatement of the financial statements, whether due fo
crror o frowd, and performing procedures that respond 1o those naks. Such procedures incheded examimang, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounis and disclosures in the financial statemends. Our audits also included evaluaimg the accoumiing pnnciples
used and significant cstimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements, We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opiion.

sl BROUSA, LLP
Wi have served as the Company’s auditor sinoc 2005,

Potomac, Maryland
December 29, 2020



CEL-SCT CORPORATION
BALANCE SHEETS
SEFTEMBER 30, 2020 and 2019

ASRSETS ata 209
Current Assels:
Canh and cash oquivalents 5 15,306,909 5 BATTY
Receaivables 54,922 62,765
Prepasd expenses 1313432 524953
Supplies weed for R&D and masulsciunng R20,053 TE2 B63
Totsl current st 17697315 DRI4RES
Finamce bease nght of uve awets 13811 549
Oiperating bease right of uue assots 1198958 -
Property and equipment, o SE4E Y 13825636
Patent costs, et 31x422 J10.556
Dieponals 1670917 1670917
Totsl sswis 5 40,5 36,4 54 3 276329

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable 5 2,023,067 §  1.5364TE
Accrued expenses slo51% 432
e o cmpboyoes 445,022 TR A42
Demvative instrumenis, carrend portion 213,787 674,442
Lease habilities, currest portson 1,070,123 -
Other current lishalities - 14.956
Tostal current habilitics 4 265 514 1019730
Dhemivatinve instruments, oel of currenl ponaoa 1351826 LEAER ]
Finance lease Habilitics, net of cumrent portion 11,753,100 13,508,156
Operatang Jease linkabities, met of current portion 1114340 E
Onher labalities 125,000 147,553
Total leabilitics 20,909, T80 22480327
Commitments and Contingencies
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Preferred stock, $.01 par vabhie- 2000000 shares authoned;
<0- shares maued amd outstandang
Common stock, 5.01 par value « GO0.000,000 shares authonzed;
38,730,150 and 35,231,776 shares raued and outstandmg
at September 30, 2020 and 2019, respoctively IR7, 302 352318
Additicnal paid-in capital 401,174,675 A58 507 603
Accumulated deficit (381,835 300} (A5 726350)
Total stockholders’ equity 19,726,674 5133667
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY 3 40536454 5 7633554

See nodes (o financial statements.



CEL-SC CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF OFERATIONS
YEARS ENDED SEFTEMBER 30, 2000 and 2019

2020 2019

Cirand income 5 LA LHE ] 5= 4462754
Operating expenses:

Rescarch and development 17,840,290 12,659,287

Creneral and administratve 10,703 429 7 73
Todal operating expenscs 29,543,719 20657 K60
Operating loss (28.985.035) (20.195,106)
Onher income 18,763 3022
Lavss on derivalive instnsments (3907H) (TEDGO3)
Warrant inducoment expeting (BOS.TE5) -
Oher non-operating gam ERT.604 ISR
ntereat expense, net (NS (1797481
Met hoss (Rip 255 240) (22,134 6
Muodification of wamants (21,7340}
Net losa available to commeon sharcholders 5 (30276.978) 3 221 640
Net losa per commion share, basic and diluted 5 (02} 5 0.7
Weighted average common shanes outvanding, basic and diluted 36.TE9.015 AT

Soe pobes 10 fmancal sabomsonts.

F-4



HBALANCE, OCTOBER 1, 20018

‘Warrmnl exescises

A01{K) contnbetions paid i commeon stock

Siock issued to noocmployees for service

Fiquity basod compensateon - emphoyocs

Stock oplion excrcres

Puschase of stock by offkcers and directors

Stock issuancs ooty

Shases msued for settlement of clmscal rescarch conts
Nt boss

BALANCE, SEFTEMBER 30, 2019

Adoption of mew sccounting principle (ASC 842)
Proceods from the sake of common stock
‘Warmant pauances

Warrant exerciscs.

Modification of warrants

A0 1{k) contnbatsons pasd m oommon steck
Siock tmued lo noncmployvees fof service

Equaty based compensatson - employecs

Steck oplion exercines

Purchase of stock by officers and direcions
Siock issuands cosls.

Shares msued for settlement of ¢linscal research conts
Mt bss

BALANCE, SEFTEMBER 30, 2020

CEL-SCT CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
YEARS ENDED SEFTEMBER 30, 3020 and 2019

Addinonal
Conmon Stk Pasd-In Accumulated
Shanes Amouni Lapital Deficit Total
28034457 $  IB0.M6 5 3332084 5 (33391.614) 5 96
6677519 66,778 18009842 - I8 106,617
30,954 o 143 568 - 141878
199977 1.9 K76 550 B ETRSER
(7. 500y (75) 4 AIR.249 B 4428174
65997 il 149,822 - 150482
45,208 432 91,545 - T3 997
- - (132.345) - (132.345)
185 03 1,551 31398, 149 B 3,400,000
. . . (22,134,640 (22,134,640
33231776 5 32308 3 ASRS0T.603 § (333,726.254) 5 50103667
2,146,195 2,146,195
1422 AT 14,228 13,978,214 - 13,992 439
= - 803,753 B 505,753
1L.71L.ET3 17018 15127022 0 15,144 240
= = 3554 - 535
13,870 139 163,201 - 163 340
T0.950 T a7l ReR - 972667
- - 10,112,968 - PO, 112,68
0,740 IR 17am - 3R AR
20502 05 184,785 - 184 590
- (TEL.TIY) - (TET.T2)
130,000 1,500 1, TEE D00 - 1,769, 500
- - - (OIS (0235244
i 150 5 ma_ 3 HIIIE‘H i ﬁlﬁl 5 19, 74

Kee potes 10 (inancial statements.



CEL-SCT CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED SEFTEMBER 340, 2020 and 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Adpntments i reconcile et loss o
met cash used in operating activithe:
D S S
Share based payments for sarvices
Eaqaity basod compensation
Common stock contribated io 401{k) plan

Shares isswed for setilement of climical rescarch costs.

Loss on denvative imstruments
Warran! induccnient expense
Muodification of warrants
(Imcrease ) decrense in assety:

Receivablies

Prepaid expenses

Supplics used for manafacturing
Imcresse {decrease ) in Babilities:

Accounts pavable

Accrued exponses

D b employess

et canh used in opsrating achivilies

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment
Expenditures for patent costs

Met canh used in mvesting aclivibics

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCENG ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from tssmnce of common stock
Payments of stock ixouanee cosls
Proceeds from ine of
Procoods from exencises of optiom

Procoads from the purchase of stock by offfcers and directons

Payments on obligations under lnance hases

Met canh provided by linancing activifies.

NET INCREASE (DECREASEY IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR
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2020 2019

(30,255, 244) $(22,134,640)
L1587 GI3510
BOZ, TG 256,025
10,112.968 448,174
163 340 143878
1,765, 3400 3,400 000
0T TE0,603

BO% 753 -

3384 -
- 1281594
T3 5892
{623 608 {137, T6%)
(37.689) (137,123}
(T66.075) (0,0084,4 10
06,083 {1 70,878}
(261 4200 (35400
35335 {ta iy
(15 2761611 (163 20,685)
(2.654.906) (177779}
(39.975) {1 58 01y
{2604 881} {335.839)

13592459 .
(752.204) {163 364)
12,072 463 14,517,260
A 130,452
184,950 291997
(800,241} (5,1210)
25035077 14.791.284
7,064,135 {1.863.270)
& 444,774 10,310 044
5 15,308 00 § R4




CEL-SCI CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED SEFTEMBER 30, 2020 and 2019

SUPFLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

020 Fi k]

Property and equipment purch included in payable £ LisgT23 1S 17329
Prepaid comulling services paid with issmance of common stock 5 164,871 3 12461
Right of use assets acquined and habilitses incurmed 5 192,032 5 -
Exencize of denvative abilities £ LoTTis £ isman
Lease obligation included in sccounts payable 5 790 5 441
Sk peuance costs incladed m current lssbalaties L 50,459 9 15 580
Capitalizable patent conts inclisded in current liabilities 5 15,000 5 -
Accrsed comaulting services o be pad with common stock 5 53,000 §

Cash paid for interest $ L3026 £ 1R00242

Sew Bodes 1o finamsctal stabements.
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II

CEL-SC1 CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ORGANIZATION

CEL-SCI Corporation (the Company) was incorporaied on March 22, 1983, in the state of Colorado, to finance
rescarch and development in biomedical science and ultimately to engage in marketing and selling products.

The Company is focused on Minding the best way to activate the immune system 1o fight cancer and infectious
discases. The Company has recently reached the end of the pivotal Phase 3 study for its lead investigational
therapy, Multikine® { Leukocyie Interleukin, Injection), involving head and neck cancer, for which the Company
has received Orphan Drug Swatus from the United Stnes Food and Drug Adminisiration (FDA). The Phase 3 sidy
is in the final statistical analysis phase. Unlike other immune therapies, Muliking is administered locally at the
site of the umor as a first line treatment right after diagnosis, before surgery, radiation and’or chemotherapy. The
goal is to help the intact immune system kill the micro metastases that usually cause recumrence of the cancer.

CEL-SCI is investigating a peptide-based inmunotherapy (CEL-4000) as a vaccine for rhewmatoid arthritis using
its LEAPS 1echnology platform. CEL-SCI is in the process of completing pre-IND studies for CEL-4000 and
hopes to start human siudies with CEL-3000 in 2021,

CEL-SCI is also investigating LEAPS COVID-19 conjugales as a potential treatment of COVID-19 in
hospitalized and at-high-risk patients at the University of Georgia’s Center for Vaccines and Immunology. Initial
animal experiments showed that LEAPS COVID-19 conjugates induced faster and much higher than expected
antibody responses against a non-mutating region of the virus that causes COVID-19, alter only one injection.
These experiments provide the basis for moving forward imo animal challenge studies with live virus SARS-
CoV-2, the causative agent of COVID-19, These SARS-CoV-2 challenge swidics being conducted a1 UGA's
Center for Vaccines and Immunology seek to repeat the success of animal challenge studies conducted previously
at the National Institutes for Allergics and Infections Discases (NIAID) emerging discases laboratory during the
threatened HINT flu pandemic,

OPERATIONS AND FINANCING

On May 4, 2020, the Company announced that the pivotal Phase 3 head and neck cancer siudy of Muliikine
immunotherapy had reached the targeted threshold of 298 events (deaths) required 1o conduct the data evaluation.
Database lock is completed and the Phase 3 study is now in the final statistical analysis phase. The Company will
continue 1o remain blinded to the study results throughout this process. The Company will be advised of the
results when the analysis is completed, and the study results will be announced to the public a1 that time.

The Company has incurred significant costs since its inception for the acquisition of certain proprietary
technology and scientific knowledge relating 10 the human immunological defense system, patent applications,
rescarch and development, administrative costs, consiruction of laboratory facilities and participation m ¢linical
trials. The Company has funded such costs primarily with proceeds from loans and the public and private sale of
its securities. The Company will be required 1o raise additional capital or find additional long-term fnancing 1o
continue with ils rescarch efforis, The ability io mise capiial may be dependeni upon market conditions that are
outside the control of the Company. The ability of the Company to complete the necessary clinical trials and
obtain FDA approval for the sale of products o be developed on a commercial basis is uncenain. Ulimately, the
Company must complete the development of its products, obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals and obtain
sufficient revenues 1o support ils cost structure, The Company believes there is a high likelihood that it will
continue 1o receive funds from private and public offerings and warrant exercises similarly to the way it has
substantially funded operations for the past 12 months, However, there can be no assurance that the Company
will be able to raise sufficient capital to suppor its operalions.

To finance the Company through marketing approval, the Company plans 10 raise additional capital in the formm
of warrant exercises, corporate partnerships, and debt and‘or equity financings. The Company belicves that it
will be able 1o obtain additional financing bocause it has done so consistently in the past and because the Mulikine
Phase 3 study has ended and is only awaiting final resulis. However, there can be no assurance that the Company
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will be successful in raising additional funds on a timely basis or that the funds will be available 1o the Company
on acceplable terms or o all, 17 the Company does not raise the necessary amounts of money, it may have 1o
curtail its operations until such time as i is able to raise the required funding.

O January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization (“WHO™) announced 3 global health emergency because of
a new strain of coronavirus originating in Wuhan, China (the “COVID-19 oumbreak™) and the risks 1o the
international conmunity as the virus spread globally beyond its point of onigin. In March 2020, because of the
rapid increase in exposure globally, the WHO classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic. The full impact
of the COVID-19 oulbreak continues 1o evolve as of the date of this report. As such, it is uncertain as to the bl
magnitude that the pandemic will have on the Company's financial condition, liquidity and future results of
operations. Management is actively monitoring the risks to public health and the impact of overall global business
activity on its financial condition, liquidity, operations, supplicrs, industry, and workforce,

The financial staiements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern, but
due 10 the Company’s recurring losses from operations and future liquidity needs, there is substantial doubt abowt
the Company's ability 1o continue as a going concen.  The Minancial statements do not include any adjustmenis
that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Casft and Casle Equivalenis = Cash and cash equivalents consist principally of unrestricted cash on deposit and
short-term money market funds. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity when
purchased of less than three months as cash and cash equivalents,

Praperiy and Eguipnent — Propeny and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated using the straght-hine
mcthod over estimated useful lives of five to seven vears. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the estimated uselul life of the assel or the term of the lease, Repairs and mainienance which do not
extend the life of the asset are expensed when incurred. Property and equipment 15 reviewed on a quarterly basis
to determine if any of the assets are impaired,

Patenis - Patent expenditures are capitalized and amortized using the siraighi-line method over the shorier of the
expected uselul life or the legal life of the patent (17 wvears). In the evemt changes in technology or other
circumstances impair the value or life of the patent, appropriate adjustment to the asset value and period of
amortization is made, An impairment loss is recognized when estimated future undiscounted cash Mows expected
to result from the use of the asset, and from disposition, are less than the carrying value of the asset. The amount
of the impairment loss would be the dilference between the estimated fair value of the asset and its carrying value.

Leases - On Ociober 1, 2019, the Company adopied Accounting Standards Update (“ASU™) 2016-02, Leases and
its related amendments (collectively referred 1o as Topic 842 and codilied as “ASC 8427), ASC 842 requires that
lessees recognize right-of-use asscis and lease liabilities measured at the present value of the future lease payments
at the lease commencement date. The Company adopted the new leases standard wiilizing the modified
retrospective transition method, under which amounts in prior periods presented were not restated, For contracts
existing at the time of adoption, the Company elected 1o not reassess (1) whether any are or contain leases, (i)
lease classification. and (i) initial direct costs. The Company’s lease portfolio includes both finance and
operating leases. The impact of adopting ASC 842 was 1o increase long 1erm asseéts by approximately 53.0 million,
increase total labilities by approximately $0.9 million and record a cumulative effect adjusiment of approximately
£2.1 million to the opening accumulated deficit balance. The adoption of ASC %42 did not have a significant
impact on the Company's statements of operations or cash flows,

In connection with the preparation of our financial statemenis for the year ended September 30, 2020, we
identified an emror relating 1o the manufacturing facility bease on the adoption of ASC 842 at October 1, 2019,
The error impacied the finance lease right-of-use asset and total stockholders® equity, both of which were
understated by approximately $2.0 million on adoption. We concluded the impact on the interim financial
statements during fiscal 2020 was immaterial to the statement of operations but material to the balance sheet and
will correct the balances for the quarterly reporting periods at December 31, 2019, March 31, 2020, and June 30,
2020, All adjusiments have been reflected in the accompanying financial statements. Additional information has
been disclosed in the 8-K filed on December 29, 2020,



Derivative fnstruments = The Company has financing armangements (hat consist of freestanding derivative
instruments that contain embedded derivative features. The Company accounts for these arrangements in
accordance with ASC BI15, “Adccowmting for Derivative Instriments and Hedging Aetivitfes.” In accordance with
ASC 815, derivative instruments and hybrid instruments are recognized as cither assets or liabilities in the balance
sheet and are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognized in camings or other comprehensive income
depending on the nature of the derivative or hybnd instruments. The Company determines the fair value of
derivative instruments and hybrid instruments based on available market data using appropriate valuation models
considering all the rights and obligations of cach instrument. The derivative liabilities are re-measurcd at fair
value at the end of cach interim period.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Falue Meastrement - Disclosure Framework-Changes to
the Pisclassre Requiremenis for Fair Valwe Measurement (Topic 82007 Under the new standard. the amount
and reason for a transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy is no longer required 1o be
disclosed, but public companics are required to disclose a range and weighted average of significant unobservable
inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements. The Company adopted the new standard on July 1, 2020; however, it
had an insignificant impact 10 the disclosures in the Company”’s linancial statemenis,

Stock-Baved Compensation - Compensation cost for all stock-based awards is measured at fair value as of the
grant date in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 “Compensation — Stock Compensation,” The fair value
of stock options is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, The Black-Scholes model requires
various judgmental assumptions in¢luding volatility and expocted option life. The stock-based compensation cost
is recognized on the straight-line allocation method as expense over the requisite service or vesting period.

In June 20138, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 200807, Compensation — Stock
Compensation (Topic 718), which expands the scope of Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions
for acquiring goods and services rom nonemployees, and thus, the accounting for share-based payments 1o non-
employees will be substantially aligned. The Company adopied ASU 201807 as of October 1, 2019 with no
impact on its financial statcments and related disclosures.

The Company has Incentive Siock Option Plans, Non-Cualified Siock Opiion Plans, Stock Compensation Plans,
Stock Bonus Plans and an Incentive Stock Bonus Plan, In some cases, these Plans are collectively referred to as
the "Plans”. All Plans have been approved by the Company’s stockholders,

The Company s stock options are nod transferable, and the actual value of the stock options that an employee may
realize, if any, will depend on the ¢xcess of the market price on the date of exercise over the cxercise price. For
options issucd with service conditions only, the Company has based its assumption for stock price volatility on
the variance of daily closing prices of the Company’s stock. The risk-free interest rite assumption was based on
the U.S, Treasury rate at date of the grant with the term equal to the expected life of the option. Forfeitures are
accounted for when they occur. The expected term of options represents the period that options granted are
expected to be outstanding and has been determined based on an analysis of historical exercise behavior. 10 any
of the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model change significamly, stock-based compensation expense for
new awards may differ matenially in the fuiure from that recorded in the current perod.

Vesting of restricted stock granted under the Incentive Stock Bonus Plan and options granted under the 2020 Non-
Qualificd Stock Option Plan are subject to service, performance and markel conditions and meets the
classification of equity awards, These awards were measured at market value on the grant-dates for issuances
where the attainment of performance criteria is likely and at fair value on the gramt-dates, using a Monte Carlo
simulation for issuances where the attainment of performance criteria is uncertain. The total compensation ¢ost
will be expensed over the estimated requisite service period.

Research and Development Costs - Research and development cosis are expensed as incurred.  Management
accrues Clinical Research Organization ("CRO") expenses and clinical trial study expenses based on services
performed and relics on the CROs 1o provide estimates of those costs applicable to the completion stage of a
study. Estimated accrued CRO costs are subject to revisions as such studics progress to completion. The Company
charges revisions 1o estimated expense in the period inwhich the Facts that give rise (o the revision become known.

F-10



Cirani [ncome = The Company's grant arrangements are handled on a reimbursement basis. Grant income under
the arrangemenis is recognized when costs are incurred.

Net Loss Per Common Share — The Company calculates net loss per commeon share in accordance with ASC 260
“Eamings Per Share” (ASC 260). Basic and diluted net foss per common share was determined by dividing net
loss applicable to common sharcholders by the weighted average number of commaon shares outstanding during
the period. The Company's potentially dilutive shares, which include outstanding common stock options,
unvested restricied stock and common stock wammants, have not been included in the computation of diluted net
loss per share for all periods as the result would be anti-dilative,

Concentration of Credit Risk — Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company (o concentrations
of credit risk, consist of cash and cash equivalents. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with
high quality financial institutions, At times, these accounts may exceed federally insured limits. The Company
has not experienced any losses in such bank accounts. The Company believes it is not exposed o significamt
credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents. All non-interest bearing cash balances were fully insured up 1o
$250,000 al September 30, 2020,

fncome Taxves — The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the assel
and liability method, defermed 1ax assets and habilitics are recognized for future tax consequences attributable 1o
differences between the financial statement cammving amounts of existing assets and liabilitics and their respective
tax bases and operating and tax loss carryforwards, Deferred tax asscts and liabilities ane measured using enacted
tax rates expecied to apply to taxable mcome in the years in which those temporary differences are expected 1o
be recovered or setled.  The effiect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in 1ax rates is recopnized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company records @ valuation allowance o reduce the
deferred 1ax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be recognized. A full valuation allowance was
recorded against the deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2020 and 2019,

Use of Extimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity U5, GAAP requires management 1o
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the fnancial statements and the
accompanying disclosures. These estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and
actions the Company may undertake in the futere, Estimates are wsed in accounting for, among other items,
inventory obsolescence, accruals, stock options, useful lives for depreciation and amonization of long-lived
assets, deferred tax assets and the related valuation allowance, and the valumion of derivative liabilities. Actual
results could differ from estimates, although management does not gencrally believe such differences would
muterially affect the financial statements in any given vear. However, in regard to the valuation of derivative
liabilitics determined using various valuation techniques including the Black-Scholes and binomial pricing
mcthodologics, significant flucluations may materially affect the financial statememts in a given year. The
Company considers such valuations o be significant estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncemenis

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-12, fecame Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifving ihe Accounting
Sor Income Taves, The new standard includes several provisions that simplify accounting for income taxes by
FEMOVIRE cerain exceplions 1o the general principles in Topic 740 and increasing consistency and clarity for the
users of financial statements. This standard will be effective for the Company on October 1, 2021, Early adoption
is permitted, We are currently evaluating the impact this ASLU will have on our financial statements,

The Company has considered all other recenily issued accounting pronouncements and docs not belicve the
adoption of such pronouncements will have a material impact on its financial statements.

WARRANTS AND NON-EMPLOYEE OPTIONS

The following warrants and non-cmployee options are outstanding a1 Sepiember 30, 2020:
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Wamami  Issue Daie

Series N
Series UL
Series W
Serics X
Senies Y
Series £7
Serics BB
Series Z
Series CC
Series HH
Series AA
Series MM
Serics NN
Series RR
Secries 58
Series TT

Consultants

B/82008
61172018
101282015
1132016
21152016
232016
B26/2016
£232006
1282016
2232017
RB2620016
6222017
7242017
107302017
121192017
252018
TI28717

Shares
Issuable upon
Exercise of
Wamnts
£5.339
93,603
688 930
B 20,00
206,00
200, 000
16,000
264,000
148,643

2}
200,000
T97.633
345,542
417,649
326,064
371,564

10,000

Exercise

Price
53.00
8280
S16.75
£9.25
S12.00
$13.75
S13.75
513,75
£5.00
§3.13
§13.75
S1.86
52.52
S1.65
8209
§2.24
$2.18

Expiration
Date
2182021
1273172020
10/28/2020
171372021
2152021
571872021
82272021
11/23%72021
12/8/202]
2162022
272212022
62272002
72412022
1073002022
1271872022
2512023
TRT2027

The following warranis and non-cmplovee options were outstanding at Sepiember 30, 2009

Warrant
Serics N
Series V
Series UL
Serics W
Series X
Series Y
Series 27
Series BB
Series Z
Serics FF
Series CC
Series HH
Series AA
Series 11
Series LL
Series MM
Serics NN
Series 00
Series RRE
Series 55
Series TT
Series VV

Consultanis

A. Warrant Liabilities

Issue Date
RI18/2008
S2R2015
6112018

102872015
171372016
/152016
57232016
B26/2016
57232016
12/8/2016
1282016
2233017
8/26/2016
42007
4302017
62212017
2472017
TR312007

1030/2017

121972017

252008
722018
2817

Shares

Issuable upon

Exercise of
Warrants
85339
810,127
154810
688,930
120,000

457,116
482,644
559689
82,500
10,000

Warrant liabilities outstanding at September 30 are as follows:

F-12

Exercise
Price
$3.00

£19.75
$2.80
516,75
£9.25
S12.00
51375
£13.75
£13.75
5391
55,00
113
£13.75
113
£3.59
S1.86
£2.52
$2.52
51.65
5209
£2.24
£1.75
5218

Expiration
Duate
2/1872020
528/2020
6/11/2020
10282020
11372021
2/15/2021
5/18/2021
82272021
11/23/2021
12172021
12872021
2/16/2022
22202022
382022
43012022
62272022
72412022
7/3172022
10/30/2022
1271872022
252023
17272024
72772027



2020 2019
Series V warrants 5 - 5 674,442
Series W warmants 73,570 1,193,507
Series £ warranis 1.207 902 1,10/ 545
Series £F warrants 75,044 77.638
Series AA warranis 1082212 916,08
Serics BB warrants 65,173 63,2660
Serics CC warrants 1,259,712 1,710,898
Series FF warmants - 446,185
Series HH warrants 2.000 45657
Series J) warrants - 66,599
Series LL warrants - 182,965
Total warrant liabilitics 5 1765613 b G488 310

The (losses)ygains on the warrant liabilities for the years ended September 30 are as follows:

2020 20019
Series S Warmanis 5 - 5 33
Series V warrants 185,652 95,994
Series W warmants 1119937 (194,426)
Serics £ warrants (96.35T) (621,778)
Series ZZ warranls 2,594 {43,42%)
Series AA warrants (165.304) (536,434)
Scrics BB warrants (1.207) (35,5100
Series CC warmants (R75,040) (1,198,836)
Series DD warrants - 1,249,287
Serics EE wamranis - 1,249,287
Serics FF warmants (319,706) (257.2064)
Series GG warrants - 195,228
Serics HH warramts (34.589) {24.465)
Serics 1 warrants - {442,040)
Series 1] warrants (64,992) {35,301}
Serics KK warranis - (55,622)
Series LL warrants (98.066) (105,333}
Net loss on warrant liabilities 5 __(34907%) & __(760.603)

The Company reviews all outstanding warrants in accordance with the requirements of ASC %15, This topic
provides that an entity should use a two-step approach 1o evaluie whether an equity-linked financial instrument (or
embedded feamre) s indexed 1o its own stock, including evaluating the instrument’s contingent exercise and
seitlement provisions. The warramt provide for adjusiments 1o the exercise price for cenain dilutive
events, Under the provisions of ASC 815, the warrants are not considered indexed to the Company’s stock because
fumre equity efferings or sales of the Company 's stock are not an input to the fair value of a “fixed-for-fixed™ option
on couity shares, and equity classification is therefore precluded.

In accordance with ASC 815, derivative liabilities must be measured at fair value upon issuance and re-valued at the
end of cach reporting period through expiration. Any change in fair value between the respective reponting periods
is recognized as a gain or loss in the statement of operations.

Changes in Warrant Liahilities

On May 26, 2020, the Company lowered the exercise price of 10,127 Series V warrants from $19.75 10 $13.75
per share and extended the expiration dates of the Series V warrants from May 28, 2020 1o June 25, 2020. The
mcremental cost of this modification was approximately S664,000, which was included in the nel loss on
derivatives for the year ended September 30, 2020, On June 25, 2020, 135,963 Series V warrants, with an exereise
price of 513,75 expired. The warrants were valued at approximately 5211,000 on the date of expiration,
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On December 10, 2018, 1,360,960 Series DD and 1,360,960 Serics EE warranis, with an exercise price of 54,50
expired.

On October 11, 2008, 327,729 Serics S warrants, with an exercise price of $31.25 expired.
Exercise of Warrant Liabilities

The following warrants recorded as liabilities were exercised during the yvear ended September 30, 2020;

Warrants Exercise

Warrants Excrecised Price Procecds
Seriecs V 674,164 £13.75 S9.260 758
Series CC 128,820 55,00 644, 100
Scrics FF 68,048 5391 265812
Sencs HH 6,300 5313 19,687
Series 11 9,450 £3.13 29.53]
Series LL 26,398 53.59 Q4867

$13,180 $10,323.752

The lollowing warrants recorded as liabilitics were exercised during the year ended September 30, 2019

Warranis Exercise
Warnnts Exercised Price Proceeds
Series CC 403,017 55.00 $2.015.085
Series GG R LIREL T 53,00 TR
Serics HH 13,500 5313 42,188
Series 11 216,500 53,00 649, 5000
Senies 1) 20,550 5313 64,219
Series KK 213870 304 649,095

1,067 437 4,020,087

B. Equity Warranis
Changes in Equity Warranis

On May 26, 2020, the Company provided that for each Series V liability warram exercised on or before June 10,
2020, the former holder of the Serics V warrant received one Series XX warrant, Each Series XX warrant allowed
the holder 1o purchase one share of the Company's conumon stock al a price of S18.00 per share at any time on or
before September 10, 2020, For cach Series V liability warrant exercised after June 10, 2020 but on or before
June 25, 2020, the former helder of the Series YV wamant received one Series Y'Y warrant, Every two Serics YY
warmants allowed the holder 1o purchase one share of the Company’s common stock al a price of $20000 per share
at any time on or before September 25, 2020, In June 2020, 461,953 Scrics XX warrants and 101,539 Serics Y'Y
warrants were issued 1o the former holders of the Series V wamants. The Serics XX and Y'Y warrants qualificd
for equity treatment in accordance with ASC 815, The Company recognized a warrani inducement expense oqual
to the fair value of the Serics XX and Serics Y'Y warrants issucd as of the date the inducement offers were
accepied. The fair values of the Series XX and Serics Y'Y warrants were calculated to be approximately $629, 000
and S177.000, respectively. The total expense of approximately $806.000 is reported as warrani inducement
expense in the statement of operations for the yvear ended September 30, 2020, All Series XX and Y'Y warrants
expired in September 2020,

On May 8, 2020, the expiration dates of 93,593 Secries UU warrants were extended from June 11, 2020 w
December 31, 2020, These wamrants were previously issued as an inducement 1o convert notes payable into shares
of common stock, The incremental cost of this extension was approximaiely S6,000 and was recorded as interest
expense during the year ended September 30, 2020, The Series UL warrants are held by Geent Kersten, Patricia
Prichep (current Officers of the Company) and the de Clara Trst, of which the Company’s CEQ, Geent Kersien,
15 a beneliciary.
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On January 23, 2020, the expiration date of the Series N warrants was extended 1o February 18, 2021, The
incremental cost of this extension was approximately 522000, which was recorded as a deemed dividend in the
financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2020, The Series N warrants are held by the de Clara Trust.
Exercise of Equity Warranis

The following equity warrnts were exercised during the year ended September 30, 2020,

Warrants Exercise

Warmrants Exercised Price Proceeds
Serics MM D5E58 S1.86 £ 178296
Series NN 124,956 52.52 314,589
Series 00 50,000 52,52 126,000
Serics RR 19 467 $1.65 65,121
Serics 55 156,580 52.09 327,252
Series TT 188,125 §2.4 421 400
Series UL 61,207 52,80 171,380
Series VV #2500 51.75 144,375

708 693 51748713

The following equity warranis were exercised during the vear ended September 30, 2019,

Warranis Exercise
Warrants Exgreised Price Proceeds
Serics NN 65,502 252 5165.065
Serics 00 10,004 $2.52 25200
Series PP 172,500 5230 306,750
Series QO 3,500 52,50 8,750
Scnies RR 98,254 51.65 162,119
Series 55 477 886 £2.09 998,782
Series TT TAT,188 5224 1.651.301
Series UU 33752 £2.80 91,706
Series VV 3,517,500 51.75 6,680,625
Serics WW 1545, 00W) 51.63 116875

5,610,082 S10.497.173

C. Options and Shares Issued to Consultants

The Company tvpically enters into consulting arrangements in exchange for conumon stock or stock options.
During the vears ended Seplember 30, 2020 and 2019 the Company issued 79950 and 199,977 shares,
respectively, of common stock to consultants, all of which were restricted shares. Under these ammangements, the
common stock was isseed with stock prices ranging between 52,66 and 517.60 per share. The weighted average
grant price was 512,01 and 5425, respectively, for stock issued during the vears ended September 30, 2020 and
2019.

During the years ended Sepiember 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded total expense of approximately
S863,000 and S856,000, respectively, relating to these consulting agreements, At September 30, 2020 and 2019,
costs of approximately $395,000 and $230,000, respectively, are included in prepaid expenses. No oplions were
issued 10 consultanis during the vear ended September 30, 2020, During the year ended September 30, 2019,
10,000 options issued to consultants were exercised and 10400 options expired. As of September 30, 2020,
10,000 options issued to consultants as payment for services remained outstanding, all of which were issued from
the Mon-Chualified Siock Option plan and are fully vested.

5. PLANT, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Plam, propeny and equipment consisted of the following at September 30:
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2020 2009

Leased manufacturing Facility 5 - 5 21,18375
Rescarch equipment 3,898,242 3,320,358
Furniture and equipment 79,768 125872
Leasehold improvements 5,519,161 149,239

2,517,171 24,779,225
Accumulated depreciation and amonization (3,673,178) (2.953,589)
Met plant, property and equipment § 58543993 5 15,825,636

The Company leases its manufacturing facility under a finance lease. Prior to the adoption of ASC 842 effective
October 1, 2019, the Company accounted for the manufacturing facility lease under the build-1o-5uil provisions
of ASC 840, This guidance required the Company to record an asset and liability for construction costs incurred
because it was involved in the construction of structural improvements and took construction risk prior 10 the
comimencement of the lease. Upon occupancy of the facility, the Company determined that because the lease did
not meet the criteria to qualify for a sale-leascback transaction, the cstablished asset and liability would remain
on the Company's balance sheet and is included with property and cquipment a1 September 30, 20019, As of
Seplember 30, 20019, accumulated depreciation on the manufaciuring facility approximated $5.6 million.

On October 1. 2019, the Company adopied ASC 842 and clected the optional transition method that allows for a
cumulative-ciTeci adjusiment in the period of adoption and no restaiement to prior periods. Under ASC 842, the
manuficturing facility lease no longer meets the criteria for a build-1o0-suit lease and is instead is classified as a
finance lease. Under the provisions of ASC 842, the Company recognized a right-of-use asset and lease liability
for this facility. These balances are classified with other leased assets and liabilitics and are no longer included
with plant and equipment on the September 30, 2020 balance sheet.

Depreciation expense for the year ended September 30, 2020 totaled approximately 52.1 million. Depreciation
expense for the year ended September 30, 2019 otaled approximately 588,000 and includes depreciation on the
leased manufaciuring building of approximately $5 14,000,

PATENTS

Patents consist of the following a1 Seprember 30:

2020 2019
Patents § 896372 3 841,397
Accumulated amontization (582.950) (529.811)
Patents, nct s 313,422 s 311,586

During the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, there was no impaimment of palent costs. Amortization
expense for the years ended Seprember 30, 2020 and 2019 totaled approximatcly 353,000 and $45,000,
respectively.  The total estimated future amortization 5 as follows:

Wears ending September 30,

2021 52,000
2022 45,000
2023 33,000
224 30,000
2025 28,000
Thereaficr 117.000

5 313,000
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7. INCOME TAXES

Al September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company had net deferred tax assets of $35.5 million and $28.8 million,
respectively. Due 1o uncerainties surrounding the Company s ability 1o generate future taxable income 1o realize
these assets. a full valuation allowance has been established 1o offser the net deferred 1ax assets. In assessing the
realization of deferned tax assets, management considered whether it was more likely than not that some, or all,
of the deferred 1ax asset will be realized. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income. Management has considered the history of the Company s operating losses
and believes that the realization of the benefit of the deferred tax assets cannot be reasonably assured,

Pursuant to Section 382 of the Intermal Revenue Code, or [RC, annual use of the Company’s nét operating loss
(NOL) camryforwards may be limited in the event a cumulative change in ownership of more than $0% occurs
within a three-year penod. The Company determined that because of various stock issuances used o finance its
operations, an ownership change as defined in the provisions of Section 382 of the IRC occurred on February 5,
2018, Such ownership change resulted in annual limitations on the wilization of tax attribues, including NOL
carryforwards and tax credits. The Company cstimaies that S188.9 million of its NOL camryforwards were
effectively climinated under Scction 382 for federal income tax purposcs. A portion of the remaining NOL
carrvforwards limited by Section 332 will become avalable cach vear. No limitations on NOL carrylorwards
relating o change in ownership were imposed during the year ended Sepiember 30, 2020. The Company's
Scction 382 cstimated analysis was completed through Sepiember 30, 2020, I additional changes in ownership
occur afier year end, additional NOL and tax credit carry forwards could be climinated or restricted. [ eliminated,
the related asset would be removed from the deferred tax asset schedule with a comresponding reduction in the
valustion allowance.

The Company had federal NOL carmvlorwards of approximately $51.5 million and $36.7 million it Seplember
30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Approximately 5192 million of the NOL carryforwards begin 1o expire during
the year ended Seprember 30, 2021 and become fully expired by 2039 and approximately 5323 million of NOL
carrylorwards, which were gencrated post Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, have an mdefinite live. The NOL carmylorwards
begin 1o expire during the year ended September 30, 2021 and become fully expired by the end of the fscal year
ended 2039, In addition, the Company has a general busingss credit as a result of the credit for increasing research
activitics (" R& D credii™) of approximately $1.2 million ai September 30, 2020 :nd 2019, The R&D credit begins
to expire during the yvear ended September 30, 2021 and becomes fully expired during the fiscal year ended 2029,

Significant components of the Company's delerred tax assets as of September 30, 2020 and 2019 are listed below:

2020 2019

NOL camryforwards s 13,407 000 3 9698, (00
Lease liabilities 3,631,000 -
R&D credat 1,221,000 1,221,000
Stock-based compensation 5,297,000 3,165,000
Capitalized R&D 13,853,000 14,777,000
Vacation and other 125,000 544,000
Total deferred tax assets 39,534,000 29,405,000
Right of use asscts (3,91 1,000) B
Fixed assets and intangibles {169, 0040) (586,000)
Total deferred tax liability (4, 0R0,000) {586,000
Net deferred 1mx asser 35,454,000 28.819,000
Valuation allowance (15,454, 000) (28,819, 0041)
Ending Balance 3 - 5 -

The Company has no federal or state current or deferred tax expense or benefit, The Company s ¢lfective tax
rate differs from the applicable federal statulory tax rate. The reconciliation of these rates is as follows al for the
vears ended September 30
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2020 L] )

Federal Rate 21.00% 21.00%%
Federal rate change (1.40) (2.8)
State 1ax rate. net of federal benefit 5.15 531
Other adjustments {3.24) (4.7
Perniament dilferences 042 (0.57)
Change in valuation allowance (21.93) (U817
Effective tax rate 0.00% 0.00%

The Company applics the provisions of ASC 740, “Accowmting for Uncertaimty fn focome Taxves, ™ which requires
fnancial statement benelils o be recognized for positions taken for tax rélum purposes when it 15 more likely
than not that the position will be sustained. The Company has clected 1o reflect any tax penaltics or interest
resulting (rom fax A5SCSSMEnls on unceriain Gix positions as a component of tax expense. The Company has
gencraled federal net operating losses in tax years ending September 30, 1998 through 2019, These years remain
open 1o examination by the major domestic taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject.

On March 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Coronavinus Aid, Relicl and Economic Security Act (CARES
Act). The Cares Act is an emergency cconomic stimulus package than includes spending and tax breaks 1o
strengthen the United Staes cconomy and fund a nationwide effort 1o cunail the effect of COVID-19. The
Company docs not expect the enactment of the CARES Act 1o dircctly impact its financial position, resulis of
operations or cash Mows,

STOCK COMPENSATION

The Company recognized the following expenses for options issued or vesied and restricted stock awarded during
the vear;

Year Ended September 30,
1020 019
Employees 510112968 S 4428174
Mon-employees 5 B62, 796 § B56,025

During the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 the fair value of cach option grant was estimated on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumplions.

2020 2019
Expected stock price volatility 87,36 — 90.26% BT.67 —92.84%
Risk-free interest rte 0.62 - 1.87% 1.62 - 282X%
Expecied life of oplions 9.68 — 964 Years 9.67 - 9.68 Years

Expected dividend vield - -

Nop-Oualified Stock Option Plans — During the year ended Scptember 30, 2020, the Company adopted the 2020
Non-Cualified Stock Option Plan, which provides for the issuance of up to 3,600,000 options 1o purchase shares
of common stock. On April 20, 2020, the Company granted 1,872,000 performance-based stock options from the
2020 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan 10 officers and direciors. Each option entitles the holder to purchase one
share of the Company’s common stock at a price of 510,93 per share, the fair value on the date of issuance. The
stock oplions vest upon the achicvement of the following performance goals: i) 25% of the options will vest when
the closing price of the Company’s common stock exceeds $20,00 for 1en consecutive trading days; ii) 50% of the
options will vest when the closing price of the Company’s common stock exceeds 525.00 for ten conseculive
trading days. i) 75% of the options will vest when the closing price of the Company’s commaon stock exceeds
$30.00 for ten consecutive mding davs; and iv) 1005 of the options will vest when gither (a) the filing of the
first marketing application for any pharmaceutical based upon the Company's Multikine technology, in the US,
Canada, UK, Germany, France, ltaly, Spain, Japan, or Australia or (b} the closing price of the Company’s common
stock exceeds 340000 for ten consccutive rading days. All Options which have not vested as of Apnl 19, 2030,
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will be canceled and will no longer be exercisable. The opions were recorded as equity in accordance with ASC
T18, Compensation = Stock Compensation. On the grant date, the options were valued using a Mome Carlo
Simulation approach. Monte Carlo Simulation 15 a statistical technigue that is used w0 model probabilistic systems
and establish the probabilitics for a varicty of omcomes. That valuation resulted in a per share fair value of $4.21
and an aggregate value of $7,881,120 on the grant date. The ageregate value will be expensed over the implicit
life of the options, which was determined to be 1.7 years. This resulted in compensation expense of approximately
£2.1 million recorded during the vear ended September 30, 2020, The remaining $5.8 million will be expensed
aver the next 1.25 years.

At September 30, 2020, the Company has collectively authorized the issuance of 9,987,200 shares of common
stock under its MNon-Chualified Stock Option Plans. Options typically vest over a three-vear period and expire no
later than ten years afier the grant date. Terms of the options were determined by the Company s Compensation
Comminee which adminisiers the plans. The Company’s employees, directors, officers, and consullants or
advisors are cligible 1o be granied options under the Non-Qualified Stock Option Plans.

Ingentive Siock Option Plans — Al Seprember 30, 2020, the Company had collectively authonzed the issuance of
138,400 sharcs of commaon stock under its Incentive Stock Option Plans. Options typically viest over a three-year
pericd and expire no later than ten years after the gramt date.  Terms of the options were determined by the
Company s Compensation Commitice which adminisiers the plans. Only the Company’s employees are cligible
to be granted options under the Incentive Stock Option Plans.

Activity in the Company’s Non-Chealified and Incentive Stock Option Plans for the two years ended September
30, 2020 is summarized as follows:

Chatstanding Exerchable
Welghted Welghted
Wekghted Ave Welghted Ave
Average Remaiming Aggregate Average Remaining Aggregate
Numbser of Exercise Contractial Intrimsic Mumber of Exercise Confractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term {¥ears) Valwe S lmres Frice Term (Years) Valac

September Toaoe M2 s13 B84 54,761 973 57764 52608 614 $604.763
Vested 945,359 1.5
Ciranted 3271362 $3.40
Exgretved {a) 63,997 223 65997 5228
Foefetted B2 A6l 1780
Expared (b} G813 £70.86 64813 7186
::h,.muﬁ: w9 6218216 §5.54 L] $20.562.594 1,392.241 £9.15 1.68 57869555
Vested 004,501 $4.06
Ciramted 2563 000 10,93
Exercised 9,740 339 99,740 539
Forfeited 18060 10,34
Expared 9973 £132.7% 9.773 513275
m"“’“‘”‘,;‘ w0 SASLT0N s701 g1 $56,193.415 19T 5585 7.8 £30,090,663

(a) Inchudes 10,000 stock options exererned by consliants
i)  Inchudes 10,400 stock optioes o consalants

A summary of the stas of the Company s non-vested options for the two years ended Sepiember 30, 2020 is

presented below:
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Number of Weighted Average

Options Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested st October |, 2018 2582433 5 248
Vested (945,359
Ciranted 3.271.362
Fosleited (B2.461)

Unvested at September 30, 2019 4825975 .
Viested {2,004 500
Ciranted 2,563,000
Forfeiled {18000

Unvested at Seplember 30, 2020 5 474 £ 476

Incentive Stock Bonus Plan — Up 1o 640,000 shares are authorized under the 2014 Incentive Stock Bonus Plan,
The shares will only be camed upon the achievement of cenain milesiones leading 1o the commercialization off
the Company's Multikine technology, or specified increases in the market price of the Company’s stock. 11 the
performance or market criteria are not met as specified in the Incentive Stock Bonus Plan, all or a portion of the
awarded shares will be lorfeited. The fair value of the shares on the grant date was calculated using the market
value on the grant-date for issuances where the attainment of performance criteria is likely and using a Monte
Carlo simulation for issuances where the attainment of performance criteria is uncertain. The grant date fair value
of shares issucd that remain outstanding as of Scpiember 30, 2020 was approximately $8.6 million. The total
value of the shares, if camed, 15 being expensed over the requisite service periods for cach milestone, provided
the requisite service periods are rendered, regardless of whether the market conditions are met. No compensation
cost is recognized for awards where the requisite service period is not rendered. During cach of the years ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded expense relating to the issuance of resiricied stock pursuant
1o the plan of approximately $0.3 million. At September 30, 2020, the Company has unrecognized compensation
expense of approximately S0.4 million which is expected 1o be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.2
years,

A summary of the status of the Company’s restricted commeon stock issued from the Incentive Stock Bonus Plan
for the two years ended September 30, 2020 is presemied below:

Number of Weighted Average
Shares Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested at September 30, 2018 312,000 51375
Forfeited (7.500)
Vested =

Unvested at September 30, 2019 304,500 §13.75
Forfeited -
Vested z

Unvested at September 30, 2020 304,500 §13.75

Siock Bonus Plans — As of September 30, 2020, the Company has issued a 1ol of 345 096 shares of common
stock from the Stock Bonus Plans and was authorized 10 issuc up 1o 783,760 shares of common stock under its
Stock Bonus Plans. All employees, directors, officers, consultants, and advisors are cligible 10 be granted shares.

Sk Compensation Plans — On September 30, 2020, 634,000 shares were authorized for use in the Company s
S1ock Compensation Plans, No shares were isswed from the Stock Compensation Plans 1o consultants for payment
of services during the years ended September 30, 2020, and 2019, As of September 30, 2020, the Company has
issued 150,695 shares of commaon stock from the Stock Compensation Plans.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company maintains a defined contribution retirement plan, qualifying under Section 401({k) of the Internal
Revenue Code, subject to the Emplovee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and covering
substantially all Company emplovecs. Each panticipant’s contribution is maiched by the Company with shares
of common stock that have a value equal 10 100% of the participant’s contribution, not 10 exceed the lesser of
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10.

S 10,000 or 6% of the participant’s tofal compensation.  The Company's contribution of common stock is valued
cach quaner based upon the closing bid price of the Company s common stock, During the vear ended September
30, 2020, 13 870 shares were issued to the Company™s 401(k) plan for a cost of approximately S163,000. During
the year ended September 30, 2019, 30,996 shares were issued 10 the Company's 401(k) plan for a cost of
approximately 5 144,000,

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Clinical Research Agreements

In April 2003, the Company entered into a co-development and revenue shaning agreement with Ergomed. Under
the agreement, Ergomed will contribute up to 510 million towards the Company's Phase 11 clinical study in the
form of offering discounted clinical services in exchange for a single digit percentage of milesione and royalty
payments, up 1o a specific maximum amount, In October 2015, the Company entered into a sccond ¢o-
development and revenue shaning agreement with Ergomed for an additional $2 million, for a to1al of $12 million,
The Company accounied for the co-development and revenue shanng agreement in accordance with ASC 808
“Collaborative Amangements”, The Company determined the payments to Ergomed are within the scope of ASC
730 “Rescarch and Development.” Therefore, the Company records the discount on the clinical services as a
credit 1o research and development expense on its Statements of Operations. Since the Company entered into the
co-development and revenue sharing agreement with Ergomed. it has incurred research and development
expenses of approximately $33 4 million related 1o Ergomed”s services. This amount is net of Ergomed’s discount
of approximately S11.1 million. During the vears ended Sepiember 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded
approximately 52,0 million and 528 million, respectively, as research and development expense relaied 10
Ergomed’s services, These amounts were net of Ergomed’s discount of approximatcly $0.6 million and $1.0
million during the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Lease Agreenents

If a contract conveys the right 1o control the use of identified property, plant or equipment over a pericd of time
in exchange for consideration, the Company accounts for the contract as a l¢ase upon inception, The Company
leases certain real estaie, machinery, laboratory equipment and office equipment over varying periods. Many of
these leases include an option 1o either renew or terminate the lease. For purposes of calculating lease liabilitics,
these options are included in the lease term when it is reasonably cenain that the Company will exercise such
options. The incremental borrowing rate utilized 1o calculate the lease liabilitics is based on the information
available at commencement date, as most of the leases do not provide an implicit borrowing rate. Shor-term
leases, defined as leases with initial terms of 12 months or less, are not reflected on the balance sheet. Lease
expense for such shori-term leases is not material. For purposes of caleulating lease liabilities, lease and non-lease
components are combined.

The Company leases a manufacturing Racility near Baltimore, Maryland (the San Tomas lease). The building was
remodeled in accordance with the Company’s specifications so that it can be used by the Company 1o manufacture
Multiking for the Company’s Phase 3 clinical trial and sales of the drg il approved by the FDA, The lease is for
a term of twenty vears and requires annual base rent 1o escalate each year it 3%, The Company is required 1o pay
all real estare and personal property 1aXes, iNSUCANCE premiums, mMainienance expenses, repair costs and utilitics.
The lease allows the Company, at its clection, to exiend the lease for two ten-year periods or 1o purchase the
building ai the end of the 20-vear lease, which expires in October 2028,

Upon adoption of ASC 842 on Ociober 1, 2019, the Company recorded a finance lease right of use asset of
approximately $16.5 million and a finance lease liability of approximately $13.5 million. As of Sepiember 30,
2020, the net book value of the finance lease right of use asset is approximately 513_8 million and the batince of
the finance lease liability is approximately $12.7 million, of which approximately 0.9 million is current. These
amounts include the San Tomas lease as well as several other smaller finance leases for office equipment. The
finance right of use assets are being depreciated using a straight-line method over the underlying lease terms.
Total cash paid related to finance leases during the year ended September 30, 2020 was approximately 1.9
million, of which approximately 51.2 million was for imterest. The weighied average discount rate of the
Company’s finance leases is 8.8% and the weighted average time to maturity is X.1 years.
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In August 2020, the Company entered info an amendment to the lease agreement under which the landlord agreed
to allow the Company to substamtially upgrade the manufacturing facility in preparation for the potential
commercial production of Multikine. The estimated cost of the upgrades is $10.5 million, of which approximately
531 million has been incurred 1o date.  Pursuant 1o the amendment, the landlord agreed to finance the final 52.4
million of the costs incurred, i.e., after the Company has financed the initial 8.1 million. Per the terms of the
financing. upon completion of the project, the 52.4 million will be repaid as through increased lease payments
aver the remaining lease term.

The Company was required to deposit the equivalent of one year of base rent in accordance with the lease. When
the Company meets the minimum cash balance required by the lease, the deposit will be remumed 1o the Company.
The approximate 51.7 million depesit is included in non-current assets al September 30, 2020 and 2019,

Approximate future minimum lease paymems under finance leases as of September 30, 2020 are as follows:

Year ending Scptember 30,

2021 £ 1,953,000
2022 2004 000
2023 2 083,000
2024 2,148 000
2025 2. 215,000
Thercafier 7.322.00)
Total future minimum lease obligation 17,738,000
Less imputed interest on finance lease obligations (5,050, (001
Met presemt value of lease finance lease obligations 5 1 2.GEE 000

Effective April 30, 2020, the Company terminated a month-io-month arrangement with a sub-lessee as the sub-
leased space is needed 1o prepare the facility 10 produce Muliikine for commercial purposes and belore the
Company's Biologics License Application (BLA) can be submitted to the FDA. The sublease rental income for
the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 was approximately S39.000 and 573,000, respectively.

The Company leases two facilitics under 60-month operating leases — the lease for its rescarch and development
laboratory expires February 28, 2022 and the lease for its office headquarters was rencwed on July 1, 2020 and
will expire on November 30, 2025, During the year ¢nded September 30, 2020, ithe Company incurred
approximately $80,000 in leaschold improvements costs for the rescarch and development lab and 15 reasonably
certain to renew the lease through February 28, 2027, The rencwal period is included in the right of wse asset and
liability calculations. The operating leases include escalating rental payments. The Company is recognizing the
related remt expense on a straight=-line basis over the full 60-month terms of the leases. Upon adoption of ASC
£42 on October 1, 2019, the Company recorded an operating lease right ol use asset and an operating lease liability
of approximately $1.0 million, As of September 30, 2020, the net book value of the operating lease right of use
assel is approximately 51.2 million and the balance of the operating lease liability is approximately 51.3 million,
of which approximately S0.1 million is current. The Company incurred lease expense under operating leases of
approximately $268.000 for the vear ended Scprember 30, 2020, Total cash paid related 1o operating leases during
the vear ended September 30, 2020 was approximately $238,000,

As of September 30, 2020, future minimum lease payments on operating leases are as follows:

Year ending September 30,

2021 5 241,000
200 264,000
2023 272,000
2024 2E0.000
2025 288,000
Thercalter 86, 000

Total futwre minimum lease obligation 1,631,000
Less imputed interest on operating lease obligation (3R],000)
Met present value of operating lease obligation S L250,000
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11.

Vemdar Obligations

The Company has contingent obligations with vendors for work that will be completed in retation 1o the Phase 3
clinical trial. The timing of these obligations cannot be determined at this time. The Company estimates it will
incur additional expenses of approximately 5.9 million for the remainder of the Phase 3 clinical trial and the
liling of the clinical study repont with the FDA. This estimate is based only on the information currently available
from the Clinical Rescarch Organteations responsible for managing the Phase 3 clinical inal and does not include
other related costs.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended Seplember 30, 2020, officers and directors of the Company purchased 20,512 shares of
resinicied common stock al market price at an aggregate Gar market value of approximately $185.000, Duning the
vear ended September 30, 2009, officers and a director of the Company purchased 45,205 restricted shares of the
Company's common stock at market price at an aggregate market valee of approximately $292,000, The shares
are subject to the conditions of Rule 144 under the Securitics Act of 1933,

On May &, 2020, the expiration date of 93,593 Serics UU warmants were extended from June 11, 2020 10 December
31, 2020, The imcremenial cost of this exiension was approximaiely $6,000 and was recorded as inierest expense
for the year ended September 30, 2020, The Serics UL warrants are held by the Company’s officers and were
originally issued with convenible debi.

On January 23, 2020, the expirmion date of the Series N warrams was extended 10 February 18, 2021, The
incremental cost of this extension was approximately $22,000, which was recorded as a deemed dividend in the
financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2020, The Series N warrants aré held by the de Clara Trust.

STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

Exercise of Warranis

During the vears ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company received proceeds of approximately $12.1
million and $14.5 million, respectively, from the exercise of warranis, as detiled in Note 4. Upon exercise,
1,711,573 and 6,677,519 shares of common stock were issued during the years ended Seprember 30, 2020 and
2019, respectively.

Salex of Securities

In March 2020, the Company sold 630,500 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $12.22 per share
and received aggregate net proceeds of approximaiely 571 million, Under the 1enms of the Underwriting
Agreement the Company granted the Underwriters a 45-day option to purchase up 1o an additional 94,575 shares
of common stock solely 1o cover over-allotments.  The underwriter fully exercised this option in May 2020
resulting in additional net proceeds 1o the Company of approximately 51.1 million.

In December 2019, the Company sold 06,395 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $9.07 per
share and received aggregate net proceeds of approximately $5.0 million.  In January 2020, the underwriters of
that offering fully exercised the option 1o purchase 90,959 additional shares of common stock at the public
offering price of $9.07 per share for aggregate net proceeds to the Company of approximately $0.8 million,

Chher Equity Transaclions

The Company entered into Securitics Purchase Agreements (SPA) with Ergomed ple, one of the Company's
Clintcal Rescarch Organizations responsible for managing the Company™s Phase 3 clinical inal, to facilitate
payment of amounts due Ergomed. Under the Agreements, the Company issucd Ergomed shares of common
stock and the net proceeds from the sales of those sharcs reduces outstanding amounts due Ergomed. Upon
issuance, the Company expenses the full value of the shares as Other non-operating gain/loss and subsequently
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13

offsets the expense as amounts are realized through the sale by Ergomed and reduces accounis payable to
Ergomed.

During the year ended Sepiember 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company issued Ergomed 150,000 and 750,000 shares,
respectively. On December 31, 2018, the expiration date of a prior agreement, Ergomed retumed 564,905 unsold
shares for cancellation. The current agrecment has no expiration date, but afier Ergomed has completed its work
and all amounts due are pard any remaiming shares will be returmed 1o the Company.

The following table summarizes the Oiher Non-operating gains (losses) for the vears ended September 30 relating
to these agreements:

2020 2019
Amount realized through the resale of shares § 2,652,605 § 3945528
Fair value of shares upon issuance 1,769,500 3,400,000
Other non-operating gain (loss) § 883,105 § 545528

As of September 30, 2020, Ergomed held 102,521 shares for resale. As of September 30, 2019, Ergomed held
198,004 shares which were all subsequently sold.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In accordance with the provisions of ASC 220, “Fair Falne Measwremenis,” the Company determings Gair value
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a lability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurcment date. The Company generally applics the income approach to determing
fair value. This methed uses valuation techniques to conven future amounts to a single present amount.  The
measurement is based on the value indicated by current market expeciations with respect 1o the future amounis.

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hicrarchy that prioritizes the inputs used 1o measure fair value. The hicrarchy
gives the highest priority to active markets for identical assets and liabilities (Level | measurement) and the lowest
priority 1o unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement). The Company classilies fair value balances based on the
observability of those inputs. The three levels of the fair value hicrarchy are as follows:

Level 1 = Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 = loputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirecily. These include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabalities in markets that are not active and amounts derived rom valuation
maodels where all significant inputs are observable in active markets

o Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that reflect management’s assumplions
For disclosure purposes, assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety in the fair value hierarchy level based
on the lowest level of input that 15 significant to the overall fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment

of the significance of a panicular inpul 10 the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the
plzcement within the fair value hierrchy levels.

As of September 30, 2020 and 2019, all of the Company’s derivative liabilities are classified as Level 3.

The following sets forth the reconciliation of beginning and ending balances related 1o fair value measuremenis
using significant unobscrvable inputs (Level 3), as of September 30

2020 2019
Beginning balance 5 6488310 5 9317031
Issuances - -
Exercises (3.071.775) (3.589.357)
Met realized and unrealized derivative loss 349078 760,636
Ending balance 3763613 S_648R310
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The fair valuees of the Company’s derivative instruments disclosed above under Level 3 are primarily derived
from valuation models where significant inputs such as historical price and volatility of the Company’s stock as
well as U_S. Treasury Bill rates are observable in active markets. At September 30, 2020, the Company™s Level
3 derivative instruments have a weighted average fair value of 52,81 per share and a weighted average exercise
price of $14.32 per share. Fair values were determined using a weighted average risk free imterest rte of 0.12%
and volatility of 95%. The instrments have a weighted average tme 1o maturity of 1.2 vears. At September 30,
2019, the Company s Level 3 derivative instruments have a weighted average fair value of $2.72 per share and a
weighted average exercise price of 515,17 per share. Fair values were determined using a weighted average risk
frec interest rate of 1.85% and 103% volatility. The instruments have a weighted average time to maturity of 1.86
yiears.

14. NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

15

v

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available 1o common sharcholders by the weighted average
muonber of common shares oulstanding during the period. The Company's potentially dilutive shares, which
inclede outstanding commeon stock options, common stock warrants and restricied stock have not been included
in the computation of diluted net loss per share for all periods presented, as the result would be anti-dilutive. For
ihe years presented, the gain on derivative instrumenis is noi included in net loss available to common
sharcholders for purposes of computing dilutive loss per share because its effect is anti-dilutive,

The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted per-
share computations:

Yeear ended September 30,
2020 2019
Loss per share = hasic and diluted
Met loss available to common sharcholders £ (30.276.97%) §  (22,134.6400
Weighted average shares oulstanding 36,759,115 31,174,394
Basic and diluted loss per common share b3 {(LE2) 5 (0,71

In accordance with the contingently issuable shares guidance of FASB ASC Topic 260, Farmings Per Share, the
calculation of diluted net loss per share excludes the following dilutive securities because their inclusion would
ave been anti-dilutive as of September 30

2020 2019
Options and Warrants 7221696 7164544
Univested Restricted Stock 108,514 304,500
Total 7,530.510 7469 044
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In December 2020, the Company sold 1000000 shares of common stock a1 a public offering price of $14.65 per
share and received aggregate net proceeds of approximately $13.6 million. Under the terms of the Underwriting
Agrecment, the Company granied the Underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 150,000 shares
of common stock al the public offering price (10 cover over-allotmicnts.
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